Transpiration Response of Residual Lodgepole Pine After Partial-cut and Strip-shelterwood Harvesting in Alberta's Southern Rocky Mountains

by

Samantha Karpyshin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Water and Land Resources

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Samantha Karpyshin, 2019

Abstract

Forest harvesting reduces forest canopy cover which can reduce evapotranspiration and affect the hydrologic regime of watersheds. Prior research has shown while transpiration is reduced by the removal of trees, it can also affect soil moisture and meteorological variables (e.g. temperature, wind, RH) governing water use of un-harvested residual trees. While this may increase transpiration of residual trees after harvesting, this has not been documented in older mature forests that would typically be harvested. Thus, the net affect of harvesting on total transpiration in harvested watersheds remains unclear. This study explores the transpiration response of mature (> 50 years) lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta) where transpiration, soil moisture, and meteorological conditions were evaluated for two growing seasons after partial-cut (PC) and strip-shelterwood (SC) harvesting. While transpiration was greatest during the nonmoisture limiting, early growing season compared to the moisture limiting, late season in all stands, transpiration was 60 % greater in residual trees in the PC stand and \sim 40 % greater in the SC stand compared to the reference (un-harvested) stand. Atmospheric moisture demand increased by ~ 10 %, while the shallow soil moisture storage increased by ~ 50 % in the SC stand and in the deeper soil layers by 40 % in the PC stand compared to the reference stand. Spatial patterns in transpiration strongly mirrored the spatial and temporal patterns in these above-ground (atmospheric moisture demand) and below-ground (soil moisture) controls regulating transpiration after harvesting. When changes in post-harvest transpiration rates were scaled up to larger spatial scales, results suggest that increased transpiration by residual trees may compensate for the reduction of transpiration by trees removed during harvesting. This is an important finding, as area harvested may not serve as a direct proxy indicator of potential hydrologic change.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors – Dr. Uldis Silins and Dr. Miles Dyck – for their guidance and support. I resonated with the 'big picture' approach and the practical outlook that you hold as the foundation of your research. I am thankful for the time you took to help me make this project a contributable research piece. I appreciate the student opportunities of conferences, teaching assistant positions, and the inclusion in the bigger overarching project of the Southern Rockies Watershed Project.

I would like to thank the funding agencies for their financial and research support provided by Alberta Environment and Parks, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, Alberta Innovates, and Canfor.

Thank you to the southern Rockies crew over the two research seasons with your field support- Erin Cherlet, Mike Pekrul, Chris Williams, and Kalli Herlein

Thank you to the graduate students in the forest hydrology lab that took the time to provide supplementary data, editorial help, and field logistics despite personal graduate projects on the go- Amanda Martens, Derek Mueller, Rebecca Baldock, and Sheena Spencer. Special thanks to Dan Greenacre for working with me throughout the two years of research, many field days to remember!

I want to thank family and friends; my parents and sisters for their reassurance and support and my friends for always being only a phone call away! Finally, I want to thank you, Curtis, for being there from the very first step. You continually reminded me of my self-worth and have spent countless hours listening to me about lodgepole pine, the battle with squirrels, and bears' love of plastic.

Table of Contents

| Chapter 1: Thesis introduction | |
|---|----------|
| Table and Figures | 5 |
| References | 6 |
| Chapter 2: Transpiration response of residual lodgepole pine after partial-cut and strip shelterwood harvesting in Alberta's southern Rocky Mountains | |
| 2.1 Introduction | |
| 2.2 Materials and Methods | |
| 2.2.1 Study area | |
| 2.2.2 Sampling approach and plot layout | |
| 2.2.3 Tree Characteristics (Tree height, DBH, AL, SA, AL:SA ratio, LAI) | |
| 2.2.4 Transpiration | |
| 2.2.5 Scaling transpiration measurements up to the watershed scale | |
| 2.2.6 Data Analysis | |
| 2.3 Results | |
| 2.3.1 Tree characteristics | |
| 2.3.2 Hourly transpiration | |
| 2.3.3 Seasonal transpiration | |
| 2.3.4 Watershed scale | |
| 2.4 Discussion | |
| 2.4.1 Hourly–Daily transpiration | |
| 2.4.2 Seasonal transpiration | |
| 2.4.3 Watershed effects and implications for resilience | |
| 2.5 Conclusion | |
| Tables and Figures | |
| References | |
| Chapter 3: Effects of partial-cut and strip-shelterwood harvesting on atmospheric varial soil moisture availability regulating post-harvest transpiration of lodgepole pine | oles and |
| 3.1 Introduction | |
| 3.2 Materials and methods | |
| | |

| 3.2.1 Study area | 48 |
|---|-----|
| 3.2.2 Instrumentation | 48 |
| 3.2.3 Atmospheric variables | 49 |
| 3.2.4 Edaphic variables | 50 |
| 3.2.5 Atmospheric and edaphic indices | 52 |
| 3.2.5.1 Hydrometeorologic Dryness Index (HDI) | 52 |
| 3.2.5.2 Relationships between stomatal conductance, vapour pressure deficit, and soil wetness | 52 |
| 3.2.6 Data analysis | 54 |
| 3.3 Results | 54 |
| 3.3.1 Microclimate conditions | 54 |
| 3.3.2 Combined atmospheric controls (E _o) | 55 |
| 3.3.3 Relationship of transpiration with E_0 | 55 |
| 3.3.4 Edaphic conditions | 56 |
| 3.3.5 Relationship of transpiration and edaphic controls | 58 |
| 3.3.6 Combined influence of atmospheric and edaphic controls on transpiration | 59 |
| 3.4 Discussion | 61 |
| 3.4.1 Atmospheric demand and transpiration | 61 |
| 3.4.2 Soil moisture availability and transpiration | 62 |
| 3.4.3 Drivers of transpiration – atmospheric or edaphic? | 63 |
| 3.5 Conclusion | 65 |
| Table and Figures | 66 |
| References | 84 |
| Chapter 4: Synthesis and forest management implications | 87 |
| 4.1 Future Research | 90 |
| References | 92 |
| References - entire thesis | 94 |
| Appendix A – Calibration of and quality control of TDP sap flow sensors | 100 |

List of Tables

Table 2-4. Total scaled transpiration (Q; mm ha⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) from May 19–August 29 in 2017, 2018. Estimated pre-harvest Q was based on measured Q_L of reference stands. Estimated post-harvest Q reflects reduction in basal area (BA) (30 % in SC and 38 % in PC) (e.g. reduced Q if directly proportional to reduction in basal area). Actual post-harvest Q were derived from scaled measurements of Q_L in SC and PC stands. Compensatory effect with regards to BA reduction represents percent difference between actual post-harvest Q and estimated post-harvest Q. Compensatory effect with regards to pre-harvest Q represents percent difference between actual post-harvest Q and estimated pre-harvest Q....... 32

Table 3-3. Summary of relationships between hourly Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) and E_o (mm h⁻¹) for Strip mid, Strip S, and Strip N during early and late season in 2017, 2018, shown in Figure 3-4...... 67

Table 3-8. Initial cross-over date (Julian Day) when growing season HDI in the shallow (0–20 cm) and deeper (20–60 cm) soil layer exceeds the transpiration Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) time series 70

| Table 3-10. Slope (m; kPa ⁻¹) and normalized stomatal conductance intercept ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$; mm ⁻¹ s |
|--|
| mm s ⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) in 2018 presented in Figure 3- |
| 12 |

List of Figures

Figure 3-1. Daily atmospheric moisture demand E_o (mm d⁻¹) during 2017 and 2018 in the reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands from May 19–August 29......72

Figure 3-2. Total seasonal atmospheric moisture demand E_o (mm) during 2017 and 2018 in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands from May 19–August 29. Different letters, within each year, are indicative of significantly different E_o (p < 0.05)......73

| Figure 3-11. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area Q _L (mL m ⁻² d ⁻¹) (hashed line) and |
|--|
| hydrometeorologic dryness index (HDI) (mb cm ⁻³ H ₂ 0 cm ³ soil) (solid line) for 20-60 cm soil |
| layers during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons. The red line indicates HDI _{crit} (57.2 mb cm ⁻³ |
| H ₂ 0 cm ³ soil) |

Figure 3-12. 2018 relationship between stomatal conductance normalized by its well-watered reference rate ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$; mm⁻¹ s mm s⁻¹) and compared to the vapour pressure deficit (D; kPa) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC). Soil moisture (0–20 cm) was categorized across four levels of increasing θ (0–25, 25–50, 50–75, and 75–100 percentiles). Dark red (0–25) represents the driest percentile. Dark blue (75–100) represents the wettest percentile. Points represent average ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$) within the unique D and soil moisture bins. Lines are best fit of Equation 3-4 and are summarized in Table 3-10.

Chapter 1: Thesis introduction

Watersheds situated along the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains in southwestern Alberta are critical to the water supply of the moisture-limited prairie provinces (Andrews et al. 2012). These headwater catchments are the primary source of domestic and irrigation water supply, and also support economic activities such as forestry, cattle grazing, and recreation (Andrews et al. 2012; Alexander and Edminster 1981; Winkler et al. 2017). The quality, quantity, and timing of water supply in snow-melt dominated, forested watersheds are of increasing concern given the diversity of land uses, increasing population demand, and forest ecosystem vulnerability to climate change (Winkler et al. 2017). Water yield is susceptible to changing climate conditions with greater concentrations of carbon dioxide and increasing air temperatures leading to summer drought, lower winter snowpack, and timing of spring snow melt (Andrews et al. 2012; Fahey and Knight 1986). These climate-induced processes also put forested ecosystems at risk because of increased frequency of droughts, insect outbreaks, and wildfire (Andrews et al. 2012). A decline in forest viability is a widespread concern both from a commercial and an ecological sustainability perspective. Forest growth requires sufficient water (roots access to water, water movement from root to shoot) to transpire, enabling photosynthesis and carbon assimilation (Maherali et al. 2004). In a climate that is becoming warmer, potential reductions in precipitation or balance of snow/rain and periodic summer droughts, maintaining sufficient water to sustain forest health is a concern (Andrews et al. 2012).

Forest management can be used as a tool to manage watersheds for sustainability of critical water "values" while concurrently producing economic benefits for society (Swanson 1985). One potential objective of contemporary forest management may be to improve growth rates of residual stands by increasing growing space and availability of limiting resources for growth (e.g. water, light, nutrients), while extracting a viable, commercial resource (Thorpe and Thomas 2007). Historically, management goals have been primarily focused on sustainability of timber supplies, while contemporary forest management has included broader ecosystem-based objectives including wildlife habitat, forest health, and other factors needed for environmental, social, and economic sustainability (Thorpe and Thomas 2007).

Forest harvesting can affect the sustainability of water resources such as the volume of water produced, the timing of flows, peak flows, and low flows (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Stednick 1996). In snow-dominated regions, removing part of the forest canopy often increases snowpack depth or water equivalent which has been the focus of extensive research as a primary driver of disturbance effects on streamflow (Pomeroy et al. 2012; Stednick 1996). This includes potential changes in streamflow volume, timing of snowpack melt, effects on peak flows or flooding, and effects on low flows; most of which may negatively affect channel integrity and stream ecology (Winkler et al. 2017). In order to minimize the likelihood of these potential impacts, forest management plans in Alberta for example often limit the proportion of watershed area harvested to minimize the likelihood of potential impacts to water resources consistent with the provincial Water Act (Alberta Government 2016).

However, forest harvesting has also been shown to increase water use by un-harvested residual trees (Bladon et al. 2006; Lagergren et al. 2008; Reid et al. 2006). Removal of the forest canopy has been shown to increase both micrometeorological variables regulating tree water use such as wind or air temperatures, or soil moisture availability to the tree rooting system (Lagergren et al. 2008; Bladon et al. 2006). However, because of high variability of such responses among tree species, climatic regions, and harvest types, the potential role of these factors in overall transpiration dynamics across harvested watersheds remains highly uncertain. High variability in tree species-specific physiological responses such as stomatal response to water limitation, stand age, and variable root and leaf structure all play a role in how a residual stand might respond to the removal of forest canopy and introduction of new environmental conditions (Rudnicki et al. 2004; Lopushinsky and Klock 1974; Yoder et al. 1994). For example, changes in sun radiation and wind regimes have the potential to reduce rather than increase transpiration where "thinning shock" results from harvest-induced changes (Staebler 1956). Such responses are understood to result from increased atmospheric drought causing water stress, cavitation of xylem tissue, or loss of sapwood permeability (Lagergren et al. 2008; Reid et al. 2006; Maherali et al. 2004; Wullschleger et al. 2000; MacKay et al. 2012; Sparks et al. 2001). Thus this information is needed to address broader uncertainty on impacts of forest harvesting on water resources needed by forest managers (Zhang and Wei 2014).

The physiological response of residual stands after forest harvesting is of particular importance for forest watershed managers. Research literature generally concludes that changes

in catchment scale evaporative losses (of which transpiration is a key component) after harvesting is proportional or linearly related to the area cut (i.e no change in transpiration of residual forest). Winkler et al. (2017) and Bosch and Hewlett (1982) concluded that approximately every 10 % increase in area harvested correspond to approximate increases in annual water yield of 25-36 mm and 40 mm, respectively. However, estimates from such metaanalyses are highly variable across hydrologic regions ranging from very high to no reported water yield increase (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Stednick 1996). Increased transpiration by residual trees may partially compensate for the reduction in transpiration losses after harvesting, however little quantitative information exists on the importance of this process to overall changes in watershed scale evaporative processes after harvesting. While several studies have shown increased transpiration of juvenile or younger residual trees (< 50 years old) after partialcut harvesting in Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), Ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), Norway spruce (Picea abies), and Lodgepole pine (Lagergren et al. 2008; Bladon et al. 2006; Reid et al. 2006; Simonin et al. 2007), no studies, to my knowledge, have documented such changes in mature (> 50 years old) trees. This represents an important knowledge gap because mature forests are the primary focus of forest harvesting operations.

Accordingly, the broad goals of this study were to explore the change in evaporative fluxes, specifically the transpiration response, of residual, mature trees after harvesting. The specific research goals were to first evaluate the short term (two to three year) transpiration response of mature lodgepole pine to alternative retention harvest strategies (strip shelterwood (SC) and partial-cut (PC)) and compare these to an otherwise similar uncut reference stand (Figure 1-1). The second objective was to determine how these two harvest strategies might affect the spatial patterns of soil moisture and microclimate variables regulating atmospheric moisture demand.

Chapter 2 of this thesis outlines research evaluating the transpiration response of a mature lodgepole pine stand in PC, SC, within SC, and reference stands during the growing season (May – August) of 2017 and 2018. Specific study objectives were to a) evaluate the influence of PC and SC harvesting on shorter term diurnal patterns of transpiration; b) evaluate the differential effects of PC and SC harvesting on broader seasonal patterns (early- and later growing season) of water use across two full growing seasons; c) evaluate relationships between key tree and stand attributes with these transpiration responses; and d) use these relationships to evaluate how

changes in transpiration of un-harvested residual trees are likely to affect total evaporative flux by transpiration at larger watershed scales.

Chapter 3 reports on research evaluating the spatial patterns of rooting zone soil moisture (edaphic / below ground) and atmospheric demand (atmospheric / above ground) conditions created by the two alternative harvest strategies (PC and SC). Specific study objectives were to: a) evaluate the influence of PC and SC harvesting on seasonal patterns of microclimate variables governing atmospheric demand for moisture (above-ground controls) and soil moisture content and soil water potential (below-ground or edaphic controls); and b) evaluate the relationship between harvest associated changes in above- and below- ground controls and the transpiration response of PC and SC residual stands, and c) to explore the combined effects of both atmospheric and edaphic factors after harvesting to shed light on the relative influence of these controls on post-harvesting transpiration.

Chapter 4 outlines a synthesis of results of these studies in the context of forest management practices in Alberta.

Table and Figures



Figure 1-1. i) Map of Star creek basin in the headwaters of the Oldman river basin in southern Alberta, Canada. ii) Map of the two harvest treatments and reference site in Star creek. Harvest treatments are the strip-shelterwood (SC) and the partial-cut (PC). Red stars indicate location of study plots.

References

- Alberta Government (2016). Alberta Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules Framework for Renewal:1-89
- Alexander RR, Edminster C (1981) Lodgepole Pine management in the Central Rocky Mountains. Journal of Forestry 78:196-201
- Andrews SF, Flanagan LB, Sharp EJ, Cai T (2012) Variation in water potential, hydraulic characteristics and water source use in montane Douglas-fir and lodgepole pine trees in southwestern Alberta and consequences for seasonal changes in photosynthetic capacity. Tree physiology 32:146-160. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpr136
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ (2006) Differential transpiration by three boreal tree species in response to increased evaporative demand after variable retention harvesting. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138:104-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.015
- Bosch JM, Hewlett JD (1982). A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3-23. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(82)90117-2
- Fahey T, Knight D (1986) Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems. BioScience 36:610-617. doi: 10.2307/1310196
- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A (2008) Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 255:2312-2323. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.12.047
- Lopushinsky W, Klock GO (1974) Transpiration of conifer seedlings in relations to soil water potential. Forest Science 20:181-186
- MacKay SL, Arain MA, Khomik M, Brodeur JJ, Schumacher J, Hartmann H, Peichl M (2012) The impact of induced drought on transpiration and growth in a temperate pine plantation forest. Hydrological Processes 26:1779-1791. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9315
- Maherali H, Pockman WT, Jackson R (2004) Adaptive Variation in the Vulnerability of Woody Plants to Xylem Cavitation. Ecology 85:2184-2199. doi: 10.1890/02-0538
- Pomeroy J, Fang X, Ellis C (2012) Sensitivity of snowmelt hydrology in Marmot Creek, Alberta, to forest cover disturbance. Hydrological Processes 26:1891-1904. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9248
- Reid DE, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2006) Sapwood hydraulic recovery following thinning in lodgepole pine. Annals of Forest Science 63:329-338

- Rudnicki M, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2004) Crown Cover Is Correlated with Relative Density, Tree Slenderness, and Tree Height in Lodgepole Pine. Forest Science 50:356-363
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW (2007) The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 143:266-276. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.01.003
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black A (2001) Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of Pinus contorta: a TDR case study. Oecologia 127:468-475. doi: 10.1007/s004420000587
- Staebler G (1956) Evidence of shock following thinning of young Douglas Fir. Journal of Forestry 54:339
- Stednick JD (1996) Monitoring the effects of timber harvest on annual water yield. Journal of Hydrology 176:79-95. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(95)02780-7
- Swanson RH (1985). Managing lodgepole pine ecosystems as watersheds. In: Baumgartner, D., Krebill, R., Arnott, J., Weetman, G. (eds) Lodgepole Pine The Species and Its Management Symposium Proceedings, Spokane, Washington and Vancouver, BC, May 8-16, 1985, Pullman, Washington:305-313
- Thorpe HC, Thomas SC (2007) Partial harvesting in the Canadian boreal: Success will depend on stand dynamic responses. The Forestry Chronicle 83:319-325. doi: 10.5558/tfc83319-3
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S (2017) Streamflow response to clear-cut logging on British Columbia's Okanagan Plateau. Ecohydrology 10:1-15. doi: 10.1002/eco.1836
- Wullschleger SD, Wilson KB, Hanson PJ (2000) Environmental control of whole-plant transpiration, canopy conductance and estimates of the decoupling coefficient for large red maple trees. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 104:157-168. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00152-0
- Yoder B, Ryan M, Waring R, Schoettle A, Kaufmann M (1994) Evidence of Reduced Photosynthetic Rates in Old Trees. Forest Science 40:513-527
- Zhang M, Wei X (2014) Contrasted hydrological responses to forest harvesting in two large neighbouring watersheds in snow hydrology dominant environment: implications for forest management and future forest hydrology studies. Hydrological Processes 28:6183-6195. doi: 10.1002/hyp.10107

Chapter 2: Transpiration response of residual lodgepole pine after partial-cut and strip shelterwood harvesting in Alberta's southern Rocky Mountains

2.1 Introduction

The hydrological cycle is susceptible to changes in the composition or structure of vegetation, where vegetative controls over evapotranspiration (ET) serves as the link between the hydrologic and carbon cycle (Lagergren et al. 2008). Timber harvesting removes forest cover thereby modifying the water balance by reducing ET which is strongly linked to changes in hydrologic regime including annual water yield (Stednick 1996). Transpiration, as a part of total ET, is directly affected by forest harvesting by removing tree crowns. However, transpiration of the remaining, un-harvested trees or stands may also be affected because depending on the spatial configuration of the harvest, environmental controls such as air temperature, radiation, wind, and soil moisture regulating transpiration of residual trees may also be affected by harvesting. Generalizing harvest effects on transpiration of residual trees are difficult to predict because of a) high variability in stomatal sensitivity of tree species to both soil and atmospheric drought (Lopushinsky and Klock 1974) and b) harvesting effects on environmental controls such as spatial patterns of soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand (e.g. air temperature, humidity, wind). These generalizations are not well understood particularly across the range of differing harvesting strategies such as clear-cutting, partial-cutting, and shelterwood harvesting.

Lodgepole pine naturally regenerates after wildfire, forming dense, monospecific stands where light competition of shade intolerant trees such as lodgepole pine largely drives forest stand dynamics (Fahey and Knight 1986; Huang et al. 2004). However, availability of water and nutrients can also play important roles where they are limiting. Forest harvesting can benefit residual trees by decreasing tree density and competition for light and limiting nutrients or water (Keyes et al. 2014; Thorpe and Thomas 2007). For example, reducing the forest canopy density reduces canopy interception of precipitation allowing for more precipitation to reach the ground, increasing soil moisture availability. Forest harvesting can also negatively affect residual trees by exposing them to adverse environmental conditions (Staebler 1956). Reducing the forest canopy increases sunlight and wind exposure within the stand creating increased atmospheric demand for moisture potentially resulting in water stress, cavitation of xylem tissue, or loss of sapwood

permeability (Lagergren et al. 2008; Reid et al. 2006; Maherali et al. 2004; Sparks et al. 2001). Greater soil moisture and lower stand competition have been shown to promote improved water relations (access to water) in residual thinned stands of juvenile or early mature lodgepole pine (Reid et al. 2006), Ponderosa pine (Simonin et al. 2007), Scots pine, and Norway spruce (Lagergren et al. 2008). However this high variability in water relations across species precludes drawing more than the general inference that greater access to water has the potential to increase photosynthetic productivity, increasing the growth of residual stands. Exceedingly little information exists on similar effects in older stands that would more typically be the focus of most forest harvest operations. Older stands may lack the ability to adjust to new growing conditions after harvesting (Yoder et al. 1994), but this is not well understood in general and for lodgepole pine in particular.

Partial-cutting (PC) and strip-shelterwood (SC) are two examples of low-intensity forest harvesting strategies which are designed as alternatives to the conventional clear cut method in many regions. In SC, residual blocks of unharvested strips are left on the landscape and in PC, remaining stands are thinned to a prescribed density. While the physiological response of younger (< 50 year), higher density residual trees after PC harvesting has been studied previously, the likelihood or magnitude of potential transpiration responses in mature trees (> 50 year old) remain unclear. As a consequence, predicting larger scale changes in ET after harvesting remains highly uncertain which creates significant challenges in anticipating potential hydrologic changes after forest harvesting.

Accordingly, the broad goals of this study were to evaluate short term (two to three years after harvesting) acclimation of transpiration in mature, residual lodgepole pine in response to spatial patterns of soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand produced by PC and SC harvests in the forested Rocky Mountain region of south-west Alberta. Specific study objectives were to a) evaluate the influence of PC and SC harvesting on diurnal patterns of transpiration when soil moisture was more readily available and later in the season under greater soil moisture limitations; b) evaluate the differential effects of PC and SC harvesting on broader seasonal patterns of water use across two full growing seasons; c) evaluate relationships between key tree and stand attributes with these transpiration responses; and d) use these relationships to explore if potential changes in transpiration of residual trees is likely to affect total evaporative flux by transpiration at larger watershed scales.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Study area

This study was conducted in Star creek watershed in Crowsnest Pass, Alberta (49°37'N, 114°40'W, ~1600 m elevation). This headwater catchment is north, north-east facing, situated within the Oldman river basin on the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains in southern Alberta (Figure 1-1). Star creek is located within the montane and subalpine Cordillera ecozones, with forests primarily dominated by lodgepole pine, Engelmann spruce (*Picea engelmannii*), and subalpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*) (Silins et al. 2016; Bladon et al. 2008; Strong and Leggat 1992). The geology and soils of Star creek are characterized by upper Cretaceous sandstone, clayey siltstone and shale formations overlain by well-drained to imperfectly-drained Eutric or Dystric Brunisols (Bladon et al. 2008). Mean annual precipitation and temperature is 882 mm and 4.6°C respectively (Emelko et al. 2016; Silins et al. 2016). From 2006–2016 growing season mean precipitation (mm) was 284 ± 16 (standard error (se)).

Research activities were executed during the snow-free season from May–August in 2017 and 2018 which spans the primary growing season for the majority of tree growth in this region. Growing season precipitation during the two years of study (2017, 2018) was 119 mm and 129 mm, respectively.

Star creek watershed is composed of four sub-catchments – lower Star, Star east, Star west, and McLaren creeks. Three harvest treatments - clear-cut, strip-shelterwood, and partialcut - were established in Star west, Star east, and McLaren creek sub-catchments (Figure 1-1). The different harvesting strategies were implemented consistent with broad objectives for regional harvesting approaches identified in the C05 Forest Management Plan (2006–2026) (Alberta Government 2016). The selection of harvesting systems was based broad objectives of the C05 Forest Management Plan to "ensure other values (relating to the close proximity of the drainage to the local community and historical uses that include, but not limited to, hiking, mushroom picking, and intrinsic, spiritual and aesthetic values, etc.) were recognized and Elk habitat is favoured" (Alberta Government 2014). The strip-shelterwood cut (hereafter referred to as SC) consisted of 44 ha variable width strip harvest which consisted of clear cutting pure lodgepole pine and mixed conifer into narrow strips (harvested and un-harvested) approximately 35 m wide by 250–450 m long orientated east-west (Figure 2-1). The partial-cut (hereafter referred to as PC) consisted of a distributed (uniform) and small group selection shelterwood harvesting with a harvest target of 50 % distributed removal. This research focused on the transpiration response of trees in strip-shelterwood and partial-cut harvested units only. Harvest treatments were applied during January–July 2015. Harvesting occurred on a gentle north-northeast facing slope (mean slope 13 % (7°)) in stands ranging from 1590–1650 m.a.s.l. SC cuts comprised a total of 44 ha (30 %) in the lower section of the Star east sub-catchment (147 ha). Dispersed and patch-retention PC harvesting was conducted across 58 % (55 ha) of the McLaren sub-catchment (95 ha). This study focused on the dispersed PC region (instead of the patch retention PC) which was harvested with an objective to retain single, dominant trees at approximately 5 x 5 m spacing.

2.2.2 Sampling approach and plot layout

Transpiration response to harvesting was assessed on randomly selected retention trees both in the SC and PC stand. An additional un-cut reference stand was established for comparison in the lower Star sub-catchment (500 m east of PC and 1500 m from SC).

Plots in the SC harvest were designed to capture transpiration response of both exposed trees at the edge of the reserve strip (edge effects) and the middle of the reserve. Within a reserve section, two 35 m long transects were established from the south to the north edge. Transects were 40 m apart and six trees were randomly selected along each transect approximately 7 m apart. Each transect had trees in the following positions- one at the south edge, one interior south edge, two middle, one interior north edge, and one north edge tree (Figure 2-1). The south and interior south trees were considered representative of the southern portion of the SC reserve (Strip S) where the north and interior north trees were considered representative of conditions in the interior of the reserve (Strip N). The two middle trees were considered representative of conditions in the interior portion of the reserve (Strip mid).

For the PC and reference stands, six trees with healthy dominant/codominant crowns were randomly selected and established within a fixed radius (10-15 m) of a central location to enable instrumenting all trees for transpiration measurement (Figure 2-1). All trees had a diameter at breast height (DBH) >18 cm.

Three fixed area plots were sampled within reference, PC, and SC stands in August 2018 to determine pre and post-harvest stand density (trees $ha^{-1} \pm se$) and basal area (m² ha⁻¹). Preharvest density (trees $ha^{-1} \pm se$) was 3393 ± 1023 for reference, 1800 ± 136 for PC, and 6147 ± 834 for SC. PC harvest consisted of single tree and group selection harvest to retain 784 ± 61 residual trees ha^{-1} in the dispersed harvest and 1800 ± 136 trees ha^{-1} in unharvested areas, while SC harvest produced alternating residual densities of 0 trees ha^{-1} for the harvested strips and 6147 ± 834 trees ha^{-1} in the uncut reserve strips. Additional group selection harvesting was done in the PC but residual trees in this portion of the PC harvest were not studied here. Pre-harvest basal area (m² $ha^{-1} \pm se$) in reference, SC, and PC stands was 65 ± 10, 58 ± 2, and 48 ± 6, respectively. Post-harvest basal area (m² $ha^{-1} \pm se$) for PC was 17 ± 1.5 for the dispersed harvest and 48 ± 6 for the unharvested, and SC had alternating basal densities of zero for the harvested strips and 58 ± 2 for the reserve strips.

2.2.3 Tree Characteristics (Tree height, DBH, AL, SA, AL:SA ratio, LAI)

Above ground tree characteristics (diameter at breast height (DBH; cm), tree height (m), age (yr), sapwood area (SA; cm²), leaf area $(A_L; m^2)$, sapwood area to heartwood ratio (SA:HA; cm²cm⁻²), leaf area index (LAI; m²m⁻²), and leaf area to sapwood ratio (A_L:SA; m²cm⁻²) were either directly measured or inferred for all instrumented sap flow trees. These parameters were based on relationships from destructively sampled trees from a nearby reference area (see below) and provide insight to the hydraulic architecture of the instrumented trees. DBH (cm) was measured 1.3 m from the base of tree using DBH tape (Forestry suppliers, Jackson, MS, USA). Tree height (m) was measured using the Suunto PM-5 inclinometer (Suunto; Vantaa, Finland).

A separate sample of 13 trees, representative of dominant to intermediate canopy position, were destructively sampled from the reference stand in August–September 2017 to develop relationships between leaf area A_L (m²) with DBH and SA. These relationships were used to estimate A_L for trees instrumented with sap flow sensors. For each tree, the entire crown was divided into equal length positions: upper, middle, and lower, to account for differences in branch morphology and specific weight of needles within crown position (Bladon et al. 2006; Reid et al. 2006). Crown samples were stored in sealed plastic bags in the field and transported to a laboratory and kept in a cool storage area (~10 °C). Fresh needles (~ 3.5 g) were randomly sub-sampled from each of the three crown positions and scanned on a flatbed scanner using WinSeedle (Regent Instruments, QC, Canada) to determine the one-sided projected leaf area (cm^2) . All scanned needles were dried until constant weight at 45°C to determine needle specific area $(m^2 g^{-1})$ (Bladon et al. 2006). Total leaf area of each crown position (upper, middle, lower) was calculated from the total dry weight (g) of all the needles in that crown position based on the mean scanned leaf area to dry weight ratio from sub-samples above. The total leaf area A_L ; m² was calculated for each tree by summing A_L of all three crown positions.

Sapwood area (SA; cm²) of the 13 destructively sampled trees was determined by collecting two cross sections at DBH height. Cross sections were air dried and sanded from coarse to fine-grit sandpaper finishing with 400-grit sandpaper (Wengert 1976; Yang 1987). Visual discrimination of the sapwood area was achieved by wetting the surface with ethanol and allowing it to evaporate for one minute (Wengert 1976; Yang 1987). Scanning the cross section after one minute exposed the highly permeable sapwood. The SA was delineated and digitally measured using Image J software (National Institute of Health, MD, USA) to determine mean SA from the two cross sections.

Linear relationships between A_L versus DBH and A_L versus SA from the 13 destructively sampled trees were evaluated to enable estimation of A_L of instrumented trees. The relationship between DBH and A_L was somewhat stronger (higher R^2) and was selected to estimate A_L of trees instrumented for transpiration.

At the completion of the study, SA was measured on the sap flow sensor instrumented trees using a non-destructive method. SA and age of the instrumented trees were estimated from extracting two tree cores from the north and south side of the tree. Extractions were done with a 5.15 mm, 10 inch long tree increment borer (Haglof, Sweden). At the time of extraction, sapwood is highly transparent due to its permeability. The extracted tree core was placed on a measuring board to determine the sapwood thickness. Once thickness was recorded, cores were sealed in 6 mm paper straws (Greenmunch, AB, Canada) and returned to lab for 72 hours of drying. Once dried, cores were mounted on wooden blocks and sanded from coarse to fine grit finishing with 400-grit sandpaper to determine the age and annual growth rate of the tree. Tree ring growth rates before and after harvest were assessed from three extracted cores from within the reference, PC, and SC stands. Tree ring growth rates were categorized into two groups: 10 year pre-harvest mean (2004–2014) and post-harvest mean (2016–2017).

Tree characteristics (DBH, heartwood (HA), and sapwood area (SA)) in reference, PC, and SC were recorded and used to derive (A_L, SA to heartwood ratio (SA:HA), A_L to SA ratio (A_L:SA), and LAI) for instrumented trees and stands. Mean SA and HA areas were determined by averaging the SA and HA from the two tree core extractions from each instrumented tree. A_L was estimated from DBH based on the relationship between A_L with DBH (from the destructively sampled trees described above). LAI was estimated from fixed area plots within each treatment based on A_L (m²) for each tree (estimated using relationships between DBH and A_L for the destructively sampled trees). A_L was summed for all trees in the plot and divided by the plot area to derive LAI (m² of leaf area per unit ground area (m⁻²)).

2.2.4 Transpiration

Thermal dissipation probe (TDP) sap flow sensors (Dynamax Inc., Houston, TX) were used to measure the sap flow to estimate transpiration of 24 lodgepole pine in 2017 and 2018 in SC (n = 12), PC (n = 6), and reference (n = 6) stands. Based on measured sapwood from previous sampled trees, 30 mm TDP sensors (TDP-30) were selected for sap flow measurements. The TDP-30 sensor consists of two thermocouple needles (40 mm vertical spacing and 30 mm long) inserted into small holes drilled into the north azimuth of each tree at 1.3 m from the base (Granier 1987). All study areas had TDP installed on the north azimuth to minimize the effect radial position has on sap velocity measurements (Do and Rocheteau 2002). Each TDP-30 was installed to a depth of approximately 25–27 mm in order to capture sapwood and avoid contact with heartwood. The upper needle contains a heater supplying constant 0.2 W creating a thermal gradient between the heated upper needle and unheated (reference) needle. TDP-30 sensors were protected from solar heating with 8 inch foam eggs and reflective thermal insulation wrap. Thermal insulation wrap was secured on the tree with ducktape to ensure that stem flow would not come in contact with heated needle (Dynamax, Houston, TX, USA).

The temperature difference (ΔT ; °C) between TDP needles was measured every 20 s to calculate and store 10 and 60 min average ΔT using a CR1000 (Campbell Scientific) and an AM 16/32 Multiplexer (Dynamax, Houston, TX, USA). The sap flow measurement system was powered with one 50 Watt polycrystalline solar panel (Matrix Infinity, Canada) and two 12 volt deep cycle batteries (Interstate batteries, Canada) in parallel. Four separate measurement quality

control assessments were conducted for all TDP-30 sensors before installation and concluded that readings were within 5 % of each other and natural thermal gradients were considered negligible (Appendix A).

Sap flow and transpiration was measured using the temperature difference (ΔT ; °C) between the upper and lower TDP needles (Reid et al. 2006; Granier 1987). When vertical sap flow is low (night conditions) the heat dissipation is primarily through conduction resulting in a maximum temperature difference (ΔT_m ; typically 8–10°C) (Dynamax Inc., Houston, TX). The maximum temperature difference ΔT_m was used to calculate sap flow (Equation 2-1). When vertical sap flow is high (mid-day), heat is dissipating more rapidly due to convection and the ΔT decreases. ΔT was measured in all trees in the reference, SC, and PC stands from May 19– August 29 in 2017 and 2018. Sap flow velocity (v_s ; cm s⁻¹) was subsequently determined for each instrumented tree from empirical equations developed by Granier (1987) based on Equations 2-1 and 2-2.

$$\mathbf{K} = \frac{\Delta \mathrm{Tm} \cdot \Delta \mathrm{T}}{\Delta \mathrm{T}}$$
[2-1]

$$v_s = 0.0119 (K^{1.231})$$
 [2-2]

The volumetric rate of sap flow (Q_V ; cm³ h⁻¹) can be estimated for each instrumented tree by multiplying the v_s by the cross sectional area of sapwood (SA ; cm², Equation 2-3). SA was estimated from measured sapwood thickness assuming a circular cross-sectional area for each tree. To compare sap flow amongst other trees, transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² d⁻¹) was calculated by dividing Q_V by the crown leaf area (A_L) (Equation 2-4) where A_L of each tree was estimated from measured DBH using the empirical relationship between A_L and DBH developed in section 2.2.3. The Q_L allows for direct comparison with trees from reference, SC, and PC stands.

$$Q_{\rm V} = SA v_{\rm s}$$
 [2-3]

$$Q_{\rm L} = \frac{Q_{\rm v}}{A_{\rm L}}$$
 [2-4]

Transpiration response to both harvesting strategies (SC and PC) was evaluated by comparing transpiration with that of the unharvested reference stand. The transpiration response was also evaluated for the edges of the SC stand (Strip N and Strip S) by comparing transpiration with that of the middle of the reserve uncut unit (Strip mid). Continuous measurements of sap flow normalized by leaf area (Q_L) were measured for reference, PC, SC, and within SC (Strip N, Strip S, and Strip mid) for the whole growing season (134 days in 2017 and 2018). Two time periods in each season (early and late season; prior to and after July 15) were analyzed separately to explore the differential transpiration response to harvesting earlier in the season when soil moisture was less limiting to that later in the season under greater soil moisture limitations.

2.2.5 Scaling transpiration measurements up to the watershed scale

Transpiration for reference, SC, and PC at the plot scale was scaled up to the subwatershed scale to estimate total transpiration per hectare prior to, and after harvest (Q; mm ha⁻¹) (Equation 2-5). Total transpiration was estimated from plot scale transpiration (Q_{L} ; L m⁻² d⁻¹) for the whole season, leaf area to basal area ratio ($A_L B A^{-1}$; m² m⁻²) and the pre and post-harvest basal area (BA ha⁻¹; m² ha⁻¹).

Because transpiration was not measured prior to the harvest (2015), pre-harvest Q for SC and PC was estimated based on measured Q_L in the reference stand in 2017 and 2018 and scaled up using A_L :BA ratio (m² m⁻²) and pre-harvest BA ha⁻¹ densities of SC and PC, respectively. Pre-harvest BA ha⁻¹ for reference, PC, and SC was calculated based upon the fixed area plots described in section 2.2.2.

Post-harvest Q for SC, PC, and reference were estimated based on measured Q_L of each stand type in 2017 and 2018 and scaled up to SC, PC, and reference basal densities, respectively. Mean area-weighted BA ha⁻¹ after harvests was estimated across unharvested and harvested areas within SC and PC. For SC, mean post-harvest basal area per hectare was derived by combining the reserve (unharvested) basal area (58 m² ha⁻¹) and harvested basal area (0 m² ha⁻¹) multiplied by their respective proportions within the watershed (70 % reserve, 30 % harvested). For PC, the post-harvest basal area per hectare was derived by a similar approach with proportionally weighting (58 % harvested, 42 % reserve) basal area for harvested (17 m² ha⁻¹) and reserve (48 m² ha⁻¹) sections of PC.

$$Q = Q_L \frac{A_L BA}{BA ha}$$
[2-5]

2.2.6 Data Analysis

Differences in tree growth rates before and after harvest were evaluated using the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test due to non-normal data with equal variance. Differences in other tree characteristics between harvest treatments were compared using one-way ANOVA with post-hoc comparisons using a LSD test.

Repeated measures ANOVA was used to evaluate differences in seasonal transpiration (early and late) with tree as a random component to account for variation between individual trees within a harvesting treatment. Transpiration variables were not normally distributed therefore a Generalized Estimating Equation (GEE) was used. GEE is an extension of Generalized Linear Models (GLM) and is suited for clustered, correlated responses without any assumption of data normality and homoscedasticity (Zeger et al. 1988). A Gamma distribution and correlation structure (AR 1) for temporally auto-correlated data were used in this analysis.

Variation in transpiration as a function of tree characteristics (height, age, SA, A_L:SA, DBH, and A_L), independent of harvesting, were also evaluated. 2017 and 2018 daily transpiration and individual tree characteristics from all study treatments were first evaluated for multicollinearity and removed one at time until all parameters had a variance inflation factor (vif) of less than 3 (Gareth et al. 2013). Linear mixed models were evaluated with tree as the random component (Pinheiro et al. 2018). To identify tree characteristics that were significantly associated with transpiration, a backward selection approach starting with the full model was used. Once the final model was derived, standardized coefficients of the model were extracted to determine the relative importance of explanatory variables to whole tree transpiration. Standardized coefficients are helpful when variables have different scales of measurement and allows for comparability across variables by standardizing according to common characteristics – means and standard deviations (Kim and Ferree 1981). All analyses were implemented in R (R Core Team 2018), with significance reported relative to $\alpha = 0.05$.

2.3 Results

Growing season precipitation (May 19–August 29) was 119 mm and 129 mm in 2017 and 2018, respectively which was < 50 % of mean historic growing season precipitation from 2006–2016 (284 mm \pm 16 (standard error(se)). Despite similar total precipitation, the temporal pattern of precipitation differed between the two years of study. Early season precipitation (May 19–July 15) was greater in 2018 (103 mm compared to 84 mm in 2017) whereas, late season (July 15–August 29) was greater in 2017 (35 mm compared to 25 mm in 2018).

Winter precipitation (October 1–April 30) was 722 mm and 577 mm in 2017 and 2018, which was above average by 62 % and 29 % of mean historic winter precipitation from 2006-2016 (447 mm \pm 33 (se)).

2.3.1 Tree characteristics

Regressions between leaf area (A_L ; m^2) versus diameter at breast height (DBH; cm) ($R^2 = 0.86$, p < 0.001) and A_L versus sapwood area (SA; cm²) ($R^2 = 0.84$; p < 0.001) (Figure 2-2; 2-3) were derived from the 13 destructively sampled trees.

Annual growth rate (mm yr⁻¹) was assessed from three tree cores from each treatment (Figure 2-4; 2-5). The 10 year mean annual growth rate (mm yr⁻¹ ± se) prior to harvest (2004-14) for reference, SC, and PC was 0.65 ± 0.1 , 0.82 ± 0.1 , and 1.12 ± 0.2 , respectively. Post-harvest (2016-2017) mean annual growth rate (mm yr⁻¹ ± se) for reference, SC, and PC was 0.52 ± 0.1 , 1.16 ± 0.1 , and 1.48 ± 0.5 , respectively. Marginally significant increases in annual tree ring growth were observed between the pre to post-harvest period in PC (p ≤ 0.05) whereas, no significant difference in tree ring growth were evident in trees from SC (p > 0.05).

Despite broadly similar pure lodgepole pine stand composition across the study area, mean tree and stand characteristics were moderately variable across reference, PC, and SC stands (Table 2-1). Trees in the PC harvest had the largest DBH, SA, and A_L, whereas trees in the SC were the oldest and had the greatest SA:HA ratios. Trees in the reference stand had the greatest height, A_L:SA and LAI. Significant differences (p < 0.05) between DBH, SA, and A_L occurred between SC and PC. Significant differences between height, A_L:SA, and LAI occurred between reference and SC. Age was significantly different for PC compared to the reference and SC stands.

No significant difference in mean tree or stand characteristics were evident for residual trees across relative positions (north, middle, or south side) within the reserve strip of the SC harvest (Table 2-2).

Sapwood area (SA), leaf area to sapwood ratio (A_L:SA), and height were concluded, based on the mixed models, as the main explanatory variables that had an influence on transpiration (regardless of harvest site). The standardized coefficients for SA was 0.39, A_L:SA (0.29), and height (-0.36).

2.3.2 Hourly transpiration

To enable comparing differential patterns of hourly transpiration among stands under similar radiation and atmospheric conditions (air temperature, vapour pressure deficit, etc.) hourly transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) was explored across three days in the early and late season for SC, PC, and reference (Figure 2-6). These six days were representative of days with high solar flux (rain-free) and similar atmospheric conditions. Early season (June 30–July 3) was representative of high soil moisture availability whereas the late season (August 15–18) was representative of similar atmospheric conditions, but with much lower soil moisture availability.

During the early season, Q_L for reference, PC, and SC ranged from ~ (0–0.045 L m⁻² h⁻¹). However, onset of early morning transpiration in SC and PC stands began one to two hours earlier (8:00 am versus 9:00/10:00 am) compared to trees in the reference stand. Peak transpiration occurred at 14:00 for reference and between 14:00 and 16:00 for SC and PC. Peak transpiration of trees in SC and PC stands was 33 % and 58 % greater than in the reference stand, respectively. On average, total daily Q_L of trees in SC was 42 % and PC was 83 % greater than in reference stands. In contrast, late season, Q_L for all trees was notably lower than early season transpiration ranging from ~ (0–0.015 L m⁻² h⁻¹). Onset of morning transpiration in SC and PC stands began one hour earlier than in reference stands (8:00 am versus 9:00 am). While there was no difference in timing of peak transpiration (14:00) between reference, PC, and SC stands, peak transpiration in SC and PC stands was 25 % and 16 % greater than in reference stands, respectively. On average, total daily Q_L in SC was 32 % and PC was 23 % greater than in reference stands.

Transpiration per leaf area (Q_L; L m⁻² h⁻¹) of trees within the SC (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S) during the early and late season is shown in Figure 2-7. While Q_L for all trees ranged from ~ (0 – 0.043 L m⁻² h⁻¹) during the early growing season, timing of early morning and late daily water use did not appear to differ within SC. Peak transpiration occurred at 14:00 for Strip mid and either 15:00 or 16:00 for Strip N and Strip S. Peak transpiration was 33 % and 17 % greater for trees in Strip N and Strip S than Strip mid, respectively. On average, total daily Q_L of trees in Strip N was 42 % and Strip S was 20 % greater than trees in Strip mid. During the late season, Q_L was considerably lower than early season transpiration in all trees ranging from ~ (0– $0.02 L m^{-2} h^{-1}$). Q_L of trees in Strip N and Strip S started one to two hours (8:00 am versus 10:00 am) earlier than Strip mid but peaked at the same time (14:00). However, peak Q_L,was 93 % and 24 % greater in trees in Strip N and Strip S than in Strip mid, respectively. On average, total daily Q_L in Strip N was 115 % and Strip S was 37 % greater than Strip mid.

2.3.3 Seasonal transpiration

To enable comparing differential patterns of seasonal transpiration among stands under a variety of radiation and atmospheric conditions (air temperature, vapour pressure deficit, etc.) daily transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² d⁻¹) was explored from May 19–August 29 for SC, PC, and reference (Figure 2-8). Mean daily transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² d⁻¹) ranged from 0.03-0.48 L m⁻² d⁻¹ in reference, PC, and SC stands across the two growing seasons (2017, 2018). Transpiration during the initial part of the growing season showed an ascending trend to approximately July 15th (Julian Day 196) and followed by a notable decline after July 15. This ascending and descending time series was categorized as the early (ascending; May 19–July 15) and late (descending; July 16–August 29) growing season. Mean early season transpiration of trees in the PC stand was 68 % and 67 % greater than trees in the reference stand, in 2017 and 2018, respectively, while in the SC stand, transpiration was greater than the trees in the reference stand by 7 % and 40 %, in 2017 and 2018, respectively (Figure 2-9). Early season transpiration in 2017 PC was significantly different from SC and PC. In contrast, while mean transpiration declined in all trees

after Julian Day 196, trees in the SC stand were able to maintain more consistently greater transpiration than in the reference stand in 2017-2018, whereas transpiration of trees in the PC stand were greater than in the reference stand only in 2018. In the late season, mean Q_L of trees in the SC stand were 77 % and 145 % greater than in the reference stand, in 2017 and 2018, respectively, while transpiration in the PC stand by 7 % and 82 % compared to the reference stand in 2017 and 2018, respectively. In the late season 2017, SC was significantly different from reference and PC, whereas in 2018 all three study sites are significantly different. Mean total growing season transpiration (May–August) in 2017 and 2018 was PC > SC > reference and all study sites were significantly different from one another. Trees in the PC stand transpired 56 % and 70 % more and trees in the SC stands transpired 20 % and 61 % more than in reference stands during 2017 and 2018, respectively.

Trees in different positions within the reserve SC strips showed a similar pattern of ascending and descending transpiration across earlier and latter periods of the growing season (Figure 2-10), where mean Q_L ranged from 0.05–0.52 L m⁻² d⁻¹ across all positions. During the early 2017 season, transpiration of trees in Strip N and Strip S were 32 % and 9 % greater than in Strip mid (Figure 2-11). Strip N was significantly different from Strip S and Strip mid (p < 0.05). In contrast, early 2018 season, trees in Strip N and Strip S transpired 10 % and 26 % less than trees in Strip mid, where Strip S was significantly different from Strip N and Strip mid. During the late season (2017, 2018), trees in Strip N transpired 132 % and 136 % more than Strip mid, respectively and mean QL of trees in Strip S transpired 53 % (2017) and 24 % (2018) greater than trees in Strip mid. Both years during the late season, had all three study sites average QL significantly different from one another. Overall total growing season transpiration (May-August) differed across treatments in 2017 and 2018 where in 2017, the pattern of mean Q_L was Strip N > Strip S \geq Strip mid compared to Strip N > Strip mid > Strip S in 2018. Both years had mean Q_L significantly different from all positions within SC. Mean transpiration in Strip N was 55 % (2017) and 21 % (2018) greater than Strip mid whereas trees in Strip S transpired 19 % more (2017) but 16 % (2018) less than in Strip mid.

2.3.4 Watershed scale

Because SC and PC harvest strategies produced differing proportions of harvest disturbance at the larger watershed scale (Figure 1-1), an area weighted approach was used to scale measured plot transpiration up to the sub-watershed scale (Table 2-3). Total estimated catchment scale transpiration (Q; mm ha⁻¹) in the reference, PC, and SC stands from May–August is shown in Table 2-4. The pattern of estimated catchment scale transpiration prior to the harvest from greatest to least was reference > SC > PC. However, if the reduction in total transpiration loss were proportional to relative reduction in basal area due to harvests, the estimated reduction at a catchment scale would have been 38 % and 30 % for PC and SC harvests, respectively. Actual post-harvest transpiration measured in 2017–2018 for both PC and SC were on average 103 % and 99 % the pre-harvest Q, respectively. This suggests that the PC and SC stands are likely compensating for the direct basal area reduction of evaporative losses by transpiration after harvesting by an average of 66 % and 44 %, respectively.

2.4 Discussion

Results of this study clearly showed that transpiration of un-harvested, residual mature lodgepole trees was increased over two growing seasons after harvesting with both distributed single tree PC and spatially discrete SC harvesting strategies. Residual trees showed generally greater transpiration both earlier in the growing season when soil moisture was greater, but also later in the season during two very dry summers when low soil moisture limited transpiration in the un-harvested reference stand.

2.4.1 Hourly–Daily transpiration

The difference in timing of water use, peak transpiration, and total daily water use between reference, strip-shelterwood (SC) and partial-cut (PC) indicates that harvest type influenced tree water use (Figure 2-6; 2-7). While stands in this study were 55–92 years old, hourly transpiration $(Q_L; L m^{-2} h^{-1})$ under clear-sky conditions (both early and late season) were within magnitude of

transpiration of younger, higher density lodgepole pine (Graham and Running 1984; Reid et al. 2006), mature (> 50 year), less dense eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus*) (MacKay et al. 2012; McLaren et al. 2008) and mature, more dense lodgepole pine (Knight et al. 1981).

Harvesting affected the diurnal pattern of transpiration which started one to two hours earlier in the harvested stands (SC and PC) compared to the reference stand in both the early and late season. In the late season, trees on the edge of the un-harvested reserve strips (Strip N and Strip S) began to transpire one to two hours before trees in the middle (Strip mid). This earlier onset of transpiration is consistent with previous studies on partial cutting (Bladon et al. 2006). The increase in direct and diffuse sunlight in the PC and edges of the SC stands would have stimulated onset of photosynthesis and transpiration earlier in the harvested compared to the reference sites (Knight et al. 1981; Williams et al. 1999; Vyse et al. 2006). This was likely a factor partially explaining the greater total daily transpiration I observed in SC and PC stands. In particular, peak transpiration was strongly elevated in the harvested stands (PC and SC) and on the edges of the SC (Strip N and Strip S). This was most likely a response to atmospheric moisture demand and soil moisture availability after harvesting (Chapter 3). Similar increases in post-harvest water use of residual trees have been observed by Reid et al. (2006) with residual lodgepole pine (~ 20–100 %); Lagergren et al. (2008) with Scots pine and Norway spruce (~ 6– 27 %); and Bladon et al. (2006) with white spruce (*Picea glauca*), balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*), and paper birch (Betula papyrifera) (marginal to 200 % increase).

Soil moisture was greater in the harvested stands due to the combined increases in throughfall that would occur after canopy removal and reduced total transpiration losses. Soil moisture (0–50 cm) has been observed to increase (4–30 %) post-harvest due to reduced interception (Lagergren et al. 2008; Bladon et al. 2006). In this study, shallow soil moisture (0–20 cm) increased by 50 % in the SC and decreased by 10 % in the PC compared to the reference stand (Chapter 3). While the effects of harvesting in producing both greater daily peak atmospheric moisture demand along with greater soil moisture availability are described in Chapter 3, both of these factors were likely key factors responsible for the greater mid-day transpiration evident in both the PC and SC stands. Wind thrown lodgepole pine trees within the PC stand were examined for rooting depth, which indicated the majority of fine roots were < 20 cm from the surface highlighting the importance of surface soils for tree water relations and photosynthesis (Donner and Running 1986; Lagergren et al. 2008). While surface soil moisture

was slightly lower in PC compared to the reference stand, fine roots near the bottom of this layer would have been able to access the increased soil moisture that was observed in deeper layers (Chapter 3). Within SC, alternating harvested and reserve strips caused a sequential pattern of shading from the residual trees, which was associated with a gradient of increased soil moisture of 18 % from the southern to northern edges of the reserve strip. While both edges of the SC (Strip N and Strip S) generally transpired more than Strip mid, the discrepancy (in peak transpiration and overall daily transpiration) between Strip N and Strip S was likely due to this gradient of moisture.

Peak daily transpiration was strongly reduced in all trees during the drier, late season conditions reflecting stomatal closure to limit the loss of hydraulic conductivity and cavitation during periodic drought (Brix 1978; Lopushinsky and Klock 1974). However, despite high evaporative demand during the drier late season, trees in both PC and SC stands were able to maintain moderately greater mid-day transpiration rates compared to those in reference stands illustrating the importance of even small increases in soil moisture in harvested sites during this period. In the SC stands, greater soil moisture during dry periods in Strip N (Chapter 3) were associated with notably greater mid-day transpiration of trees in this position.

2.4.2 Seasonal transpiration

Temporal patterns of seasonal water use further illustrate the importance of soil moisture availability as a first order control over transpiration in lodgepole pine. Variation in seasonal tree water use showed a consistent pattern of greater Q_L in all stands during the first half of the growing season when soil moisture after snowmelt would have been the greatest, followed by steadily declining Q_L through late August in both 2017 and 2018. Summer precipitation was well below average in both growing seasons which were both less than 50 % summertime average over the previous 10 years. The strong decline in mean transpiration of all stands during the late season reflected greater water stress and stomatal limitations on Q_L . These observations were consistent with similar late season trends in water use of lodgepole pine shown in previous studies (Lagergren et al. 2008; Reid et al. 2006).

Both PC and SC harvest strategies produced strong variation in the seasonal pattern of transpiration across wetter to drier growing season periods in comparison to reference stands.

Mean transpiration was greatest in the PC stand, followed by SC and reference stands during the early growing season in both years. In contrast, mean Q_L was greater in the SC stand during the drier, late growing season in both years. While late season transpiration was greater in the PC than the reference stand in 2018 which is consistent with previous studies showing higher transpiration after thinning (Lagergren et al. 2008; Simonin et al. 2007), late season water use in the PC stand was slightly lower than in the reference stand in 2017. In particular, trees situated in the cooler, more sheltered conditions in Strip N maintained both the greatest transpiration and showed the least late season decline in Q_L than trees in any of the other stand conditions (Figure 2-8; 2-10). Greater late season soil moisture availability in the shallow rooting zone was particularly evident in the Strip N position (Chapter 3) which was likely a key factor in maintaining late season root water uptake in both years.

Pre-harvest tree and stand characteristics including sapwood area (SA), leaf area (A_L), and density can also exert considerable influence on tree water relations. In this study the PC stand had the greatest mean SA, low A_L:SA ratio, and the lowest density which would have promoted greater potential water supply per unit canopy leaf area (Dawson 1996; Simonin et al. 2007). However, strong harvest associated increases of Q_L in the PC stand was only evident during the early portion of the growing season when soil moisture was more readily available. Similarly, greater late season Q_L was also associated with greater SA, and A_L as well as increased soil moisture on the northern side of the strip throughout the growing season. In contrast, while the reference stand had the greatest leaf area index (LAI; $m^2 m^{-2}$), tallest height, and the second highest tree density (Table 2-1), this likely resulted in greater snow/rainfall interception (Kranabetter and Coates 2004; Vyse et al. 2006) which limited soil moisture availability thereby imposing greater below-ground limitations on Q_L.

The trees in the PC and SC stands transpired the most during the early and the late season, respectively. The greater sapwood and leaf area of the younger PC stand (average age 55 years) promoted the greatest transpiration when soil moisture was non-limiting. In contrast, during the drier season, trees in the SC stand (average age 92 years) transpired the most despite having the lowest sapwood and leaf area. This suggests that while hydraulic architecture is an important factor in transpiration dynamics of older pine forests, other factors such as soil moisture can exert the primary control if soil moisture is more limiting.
Stand age was also likely an important factor in this study which included older–mature (55 yr. old in PC) to late mature (82 and 92 yr. old in SC and reference stands, respectively) lodgepole pine stands in contrast to younger stands that would be expected to have greater hydraulic conductance (lower hydraulic resistance (shorter stands)) and xylem permeability (Irvine et al. 2004; Delzon and Loustau 2005). While post-harvest thinning studies have reported persistently elevated transpiration rates after harvesting in juvenile or early mature stands (Reid et al. 2006; Lagergren et al. 2008; Simonin et al. 2007), exceedingly few studies have documented transpiration responses to silvicultural practices in older forests and none (to my knowledge) have explored these in lodgepole pine. Thus, results of this study showing increased Q_L in 55-82 yr. old lodgepole pine stands after SC and PC harvesting strategies across both wetter and drier growing seasons is a novel finding.

2.4.3 Watershed effects and implications for resilience

Results of this study also suggest that watershed-scale changes to evaporative processes are not directly proportional to the basal area removed during harvesting. Residual trees remaining after SC and PC harvests showed greater diurnal and seasonal transpiration compared to those of unharvested reference stands. At larger spatial scales, this would act to largely or entirely compensate for the direct reduction in total transpiration associated evaporative losses after forest harvesting. If transpiration rates of residual trees would have remained unchanged after harvesting, the 30 % and 38 % removal of basal area from each sub-catchment would have reduced total transpiration losses (mm) to 70 % and 62 % of pre-harvest transpiration losses for both years in SC and PC harvested sub-catchments, respectively. In contrast, increased post-harvest transpiration by residual trees resulted in total estimated transpiration losses in the 2017 growing season that were 85 % and 98 % of pre-harvest losses for SC and PC harvests, while losses during the 2018 season were 113% and 108% of pre-harvest losses for SC and PC harvests, respectively.

This is an important finding from several respects. Firstly, because reduction in transpiration and precipitation interception are known to be key causal mechanisms resulting in increased streamflow after harvesting (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Stednick 1996), these findings provide a clear potential explanation for why many long-term watershed studies have reported

little or no impact on streamflow from harvest associated basal area reduction. Secondly, in an effort to minimize potential harvest impacts on streamflow regimes after forest harvesting, many forest management agencies employ forest management planning procedures to limit the proportion of total watershed area or total basal area harvested within watersheds based on the assumption that changes in streamflow are proportional to these parameters (e.g. equivalent clear-cut area [ECA] frameworks in Alberta and B.C.) (Alberta Government 2016; Winkler et al. 2017). Conversely, results of this study show that the increased transpiration of residual trees can partially or entirely compensate for the reduction in the transpiration component of total evaporative losses. This supports the notion that ECA analyses as proxy indicators of potential hydrologic change may overestimate harvest impacts on evaporative processes governing streamflow where significant residual basal area is retained after harvest.

Both SC and PC harvests resulted in improved soil moisture availability. Given that these are mature lodgepole pine stands, the chances of significant growth release over the longer term are unlikely, however improved water relations would benefit overall growth and stand health.

Among the two harvest strategies, SC improved the moisture regime across the entire strip (though mostly on the northern side) which sustained transpiration rates through to the dry, late season. This would presumably result in improved future water relations, carbon uptake, and growth.

2.5 Conclusion

Diurnal and seasonal transpiration of lodgepole pine increased after two alternative harvest (PC and SC) strategies were employed in mature, moderately dense lodgepole pine. Transpiration rates (both hourly and daily) were higher in the harvested sites and on the edges of the retention strips (SC harvest). This was a product of a moisture legacy, increased sunlight exposure, and less competition created by these harvest strategies. Patterns of seasonal transpiration showed increased transpiration even during very dry late growing season conditions, particularly in the SC stands where melt from increased post-harvest snowpacks maintained a relatively higher level of soil water availability. These findings are unique in showing transpiration responses in mature lodgepole pine stands which have important implications for understanding potential hydrologic changes at larger watershed scales. Increased transpiration rates after harvesting were estimated to a larger spatial scale and shown to partially compensate for the direct reduction in total transpiration associated evaporative losses after forest harvesting.

Tables and Figures

Table 2-1. Mean tree and stand characteristics for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partialcut (PC). Values are the average of measurements within each site (\pm standard error): diameter at breast height (DBH), tree height, age, sapwood area (SA), sapwood area to heartwood area (SA:HA), leaf area (A_L), leaf area index (LAI), and leaf area to sapwood area ratio (A_L:SA). The F statistic, p value, and LSD post hoc comparison from ANOVA are shown for each tree or stand variable.

| Tree characteristics | reference (n=6) | SC (n=12) | PC (n=6) | F | р | ref:SC:PC |
|--|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------|-------------|-----------|
| DBH (cm) | 24.2 ± 1.9 | 20.6 ± 0.6 | 26.6 ± 2.4 | 4.58 | 0.022 | ab:b:a |
| Height (m) | 20.3 ± 0.4 | 17.4 ± 0.3 | 18.8 ± 1.0 | 7.06 | 0.0045 | a:b:ab |
| Age (yr) | 82 ± 5.7 | 92 ± 1.6 | 55 ± 2.0 | 95.44 | < 0.001 | aa:a:b |
| SA (cm ²) | 237 ± 33 | 202 ± 15 | 327 ± 57 | 4.09 | 0.032 | ab:b:a |
| $A_L(m^2)$ | 32 ± 5 | 24 ± 2 | 40 ± 7 | 4.85 | 0.02 | ab:b:a |
| SA: HA (cm ² cm ⁻²) | 1.9 ± 0.2 | 2.5 ± 0.3 | 2.0 ± 0.3 | 0.99 | n/s 0.39 | a:a:a |
| $\begin{array}{c} A_L: SA\\ (m^2 \text{cm}^{-2}) \end{array}$ | 0.14 ± 0.01 | 0.12 ± 0.01 | 0.12 ± 0.01 | 2.80 | n/s 0.08 | a:b:ab |
| Stand characteristics | | | | | | |
| LAI (m ² m ⁻²) Density pre- | 4.0 ± 0.5 | 2.4 ± 0.3 | 3.0 ± 0.1 | 5.13 | 0.05 | a:b:ab |
| harvest (trees ha ⁻¹) Density post- | 3393 ± 1023 | 6147 ± 834 | 1800 ± 136 | 8.23 | 0.02 | b:a:b |
| harvest (trees ha ⁻¹) | 3393 ± 1023 | 4172 ± 566 | 1209 ± 78 | 6.90 | 0.03 | ab:a:b |

Table 2-2. Mean tree and stand characteristics for within Strip. Strip mid (middle of Strip), Strip N (north side of reserve strip), and Strip S (south side of reserve strip). Values are the average of measurements within each site (\pm standard error): diameter at breast height (DBH), tree height, age, sapwood area (SA), sapwood area to heartwood area (SA:HA), leaf area (A_L), leaf area index (LAI), and leaf area to sapwood area ratio (A_L:SA). The F statistic, p value, and LSD post hoc comparison from ANOVA are shown for each tree or stand variable.

| Tree Characteristics | Strip N (n=4) | Strip S (n=4) | Strip mid (n=4) | F | р | N : S : mid |
|--------------------------|--------------------|------------------|--------------------|------|--------------|----------------|
| DBH (cm) | 21.8 + 1.1 | 19.8 + 0.2 | 20.3 + 1.5 | 0.92 | n/s 0.433 | a:a:a |
| Height (m) | -18.0 + 0.7 | -17.2 + 0.3 | -16.9 + 0.7 | 0.86 | n/s 0.456 | a:a:a |
| $\Lambda qe(yr)$ | 89 + 1 0 | 94 + 42 | 91 + 2.2 | 0.64 | n/s | 9.9.9 |
| $\operatorname{Rgc}(y1)$ | 220 20 | 102 + 7 | 196 + 25 | 0.07 | n/s | a.a.a |
| SA (cm) | 229 <u>+</u> 39 | 192 <u>+</u> 7 | 180 <u>+</u> 23 | 0.77 | 0.495 | a.a.a |
| $(cm^2 cm^{-2})$ | 2.5 <u>+</u> 0.5 | 2.9 ± 0.8 | 2.0 ± 0.4 | 0.57 | n/s 0.587 | a:a:a |
| $A_L(m^2)$ | 27 <u>+</u> 3 | 21 <u>+</u> 1 | 23 <u>+</u> 4 | 0.94 | n/s 0.426 | a:a:a |
| $A_{L}: SA (m2 cm-2)$ | 0.12 <u>+</u> 0.01 | 0.11 + 0.01 | 0.12 + 0.01 | 0.18 | n/s 0.839 | a:a:a |

Table 2-3. Mean watershed scale stand characteristics prior to and after harvesting used to scale transpiration from stand to watershed scales (mean values \pm standard error).

| Harvest Treatment | Watershed area (ha) | Harvested area (ha) | Pre- harvest basal area (m ² ha ⁻¹) | Post- harvest basal area (m ² ha ⁻¹) | Pre- harvest density (trees ha ⁻ ¹) | Post- harvest density (trees ha ⁻ ¹) |
|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------|--|--|--|---|
| reference | 95 | 0 | 65 ± 10 | 65 ± 10 | $\begin{array}{r} 3393 \pm \\ 1023 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{r} 3393 \pm \\ 1023 \end{array}$ |
| SC | 147 | 44 | 58 ± 6 | 40 ± 4 | 6147 ± 834 | $\begin{array}{r} 4172 \pm \\ 566 \end{array}$ |
| PC | 95 | 55 | 48 ± 2 | 30 ± 2 | $\begin{array}{c} 1800 \pm \\ 136 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 1209 \pm \\ 78 \end{array}$ |

Table 2-4. Total scaled transpiration (Q; mm ha⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) from May 19–August 29 in 2017, 2018. Estimated pre-harvest Q was based on measured Q_L of reference stands. Estimated post-harvest Q reflects reduction in basal area (BA) (30 % in SC and 38 % in PC) (e.g. reduced Q if directly proportional to reduction in basal area). Actual post-harvest Q were derived from scaled measurements of Q_L in SC and PC stands. Compensatory effect with regards to BA reduction represents percent difference between actual post-harvest Q and estimated post-harvest Q. Compensatory effect with regards to pre-harvest Q represents percent difference between actual post-harvest Q and estimated pre-harvest Q.

| | Estimated pre-harvest Q (mm) | Estimated post-harvest Q (mm) if proportional to BA reduction | Actual post- harvest Q (mm) | Compensatory effect with regards to BA reduction (%) | Compensatory effect with regards to estimated pre- harvest Q (%) |
|-----------|------------------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|---|--|
| 2017 | | | | | |
| reference | 67.1 | - | 67.1 | - | - |
| SC | 59.1 | 40.8 | 50.3 | 23 % ↑ | 85 % ↑ |
| PC | 49.4 | 30.6 | 48.2 | 58 % ↑ | 98 % ↑ |
| 2018 | | | | | |
| reference | 53.5 | - | 53.5 | - | - |
| SC | 47.1 | 32.5 | 53.4 | 64 % ↑ | 113 % ↑ |
| PC | 39.4 | 24.4 | 42.4 | 74 % ↑ | 108 % ↑ |



Figure 2-1. Plot layouts for i) reference, ii) partial-cut (PC), and iii) strip-shelterwood (SC). All plots had a north-northeast facing slope with 13 % grade. Each site had a meteorological station recording climate data. Instrumented trees measuring the sap flow are indicated by the grey, blue and orange rectangular boxes.



Figure 2-2. Relationship between total leaf area (A_L; m^2) versus diameter at breast height (DBH; cm) (y = 2.7322x - 32.766, R²= 0.8611, p < 0.001) for the 13 destructively sampled trees during August–September 2017.



Figure 2-3. Relationship between total leaf area (A_L ; m^2) versus sapwood area (SA; cm^2) (y = 0.1359x - 3.8717, $R^2 = 0.8404$, p < 0.001) for the 13 destructively sampled trees during August–September 2017.



Figure 2-4. Mean annual ring growth (mm yr⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC). The time series is an average of three cores per site. Error bars represent one standard error. Vertical line at 2015 represents when the harvest was implemented.



Figure 2-5. Mean annual ring growth (mm yr⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC). Time series is focused on 2000–2018. Error bars represent one standard error. Vertical line at 2015 represents when the harvest was implemented.



Figure 2-6. Mean hourly transpiration per leaf area Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) (± standard error) in 2017 for trees in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands during two three day periods i) early growing season (June 30–July 2) and ii) late growing season (August 15–18). Standard error presented only in trees in the reference stand for clarity.



Figure 2-7. Mean hourly transpiration per leaf area Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) (± standard error) in 2017 for trees in strip-shelterwood (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S) during two three day periods i) early growing season (June 30–July 2) and ii) late growing season (August 15–18). Standard error presented only in trees in the Strip mid for clarity.



Figure 2-8. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) (± standard error) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) throughout the growing season (Julian Day 139–239) (May 19–August 29) during 2017, 2018.



Figure 2-9. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² d⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) during the 2017 i) early (May 19–July 15), ii) late (July 16–August 29), and iii) whole (May 19–August 29) growing season and the 2018 iv) early (May 19–July 15), v) late (July 16–August 29), and vi) whole (May 19–August 29) growing season. Error bars represents one standard error. Different letters are representative of significantly different Q_L (p < 0.05).



Figure 2-10. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) (± standard error) within stripshelterwood (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S) throughout the growing season (Julian Day 139– 239) (May 19–August 29) during 2017, 2018.



Figure 2-11. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area (Q_L; L m⁻² d⁻¹) within strip-shelterwood (Strip mid, Strip S, Strip N) during the 2017 i) early (May 19–July 15), ii) late (July 16–August 29), and iii) whole (May 19–August 29) growing season and the 2018 iv) early (May 19–July 15), v) late (July 16–August 29), and vi) whole (May 19–August 29) growing season. Error bars represents one standard error. Different letters are representative of significantly different Q_L (p < 0.05).

References

Alberta Government (2014). CTP C050118 Forest Harvest Plan: 1-37

- Alberta Government (2016). Alberta Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules Framework for Renewal: 1-89
- Alberta Government (2016). Spray Lake Sawmills Ltd. (1980) and FMU C05 Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules: 1-113
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ (2006) Differential transpiration by three boreal tree species in response to increased evaporative demand after variable retention harvesting. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138:104-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.015
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Wagner MJ, Stone M, Emelko MB, Mendoza CA, Devito KJ, Boon S (2008) Wildfire impacts on nitrogen concentration and production from headwater streams in southern Alberta's Rocky Mountains. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 38:2359-2371
- Bosch JM, Hewlett JD (1982). A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3-23. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(82)90117-2
- Brix H (1978) Effects of plant water stress on photosynthesis and survival of four conifers. Canadian Journal Forest Research 9:160-165
- Dawson TE (1996) Determining water use by trees and forests from isotopic, energy balance and transpiration analyses: the roles of tree size and hydraulic lift. Tree physiology 16:263-272. doi: 10.1093/treephys/16.1-2.263
- Delzon S, Loustau D (2005) Age-related decline in stand water use: sap flow and transpiration in a pine forest chronosequence. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 129:105-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2005.01.002
- Do F, Rocheteau A (2002) Influence of natural temperature gradients on measurements of xylem sap flow with thermal dissipation probes. Advantages and calibration of a noncontinuous heating system. Tree Physiology 22:649-654
- Donner B, Running S (1986) Water Stress Response After Thinning Pinus contorta Stands in Montana. Forest Science 32:614-625
- Emelko MB, Stone M, Silins U, Allin D, Collins AL, Williams C, Martens A, Bladon K (2016) Sediment-phosphorus dynamics can shift aquatic ecology and cause downstream legacy effects after wildfire in large river systems. Global Change Biology 22:1168-1184

- Fahey T, Knight D (1986) Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems. BioScience 36:610-617. doi: 10.2307/1310196
- Gareth J, Tibshirani R, Hastie T, Witten D (2013) An introduction to statistical learning : with applications in R. Springer Science+Business Media, New York
- Graham J, Running S (1984) Relative control of air temperature and water status on seasonal transpiration of Pinus contorta. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14:833-838
- Granier A (1987) Evaluation of transpiration in a Douglas-fir stand by means of sap flow measurements. Tree physiology 3:309-320. doi: 10.1093/treephys/3.4.309
- Huang S, Monserud RA, Braun T, Lougheed H, Bakowsky O (2004) Comparing site productivity of mature fire-origin and post-harvest juvenile lodgepole pine stands in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:1181-1191. doi: 10.1139/x04-009
- Irvine J, Law BE, Kurpius MR, Anthoni PM, Moore D, Schwarz PA (2004) Age-related changes in ecosystem structure and function and effects on water and carbon exchange in ponderosa pine. Tree physiology 24:753-763. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.7.753
- Keyes CR, Perry TE, Sutherland EK, Wright DK, Egan JM (2014) Variable-Retention Harvesting as a Silvicultural Option for Lodgepole Pine. Journal of Forestry 112:440-445. doi: 10.5849/jof.13-100
- Kim J, Ferree GD (1981) Standardization in Causal Analysis. Sociological Methods & Research 10:187-210. doi: 10.1177/004912418101000203
- Knight DH, Fahey TJ, Running SW, Harrison AT, Wallace LL (1981) Transpiration from 100yr-old lodgepole pine forests estimated with whole-tree potometers. Ecology 62:717-726
- Kranabetter JM, Coates KD (2004) Ten-year postharvest effects of silviculture systems on soilresource availability and conifer nutrition in a northern temperate forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:800-809. doi: 10.1139/x03-244
- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A (2008) Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 255:2312-2323. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.12.047
- Lopushinsky W, Klock GO (1974) Transpiration of conifer seedlings in relations to soil water potential. Forest Science 20:181-186
- MacKay SL, Arain MA, Khomik M, Brodeur JJ, Schumacher J, Hartmann H, Peichl M (2012) The impact of induced drought on transpiration and growth in a temperate pine plantation forest. Hydrological Processes 26:1779-1791. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9315

- Maherali H, Pockman WT, Jackson R (2004) Adaptive Variation in the Vulnerability of Woody Plants to Xylem Cavitation. Ecology 85:2184-2199. doi: 10.1890/02-0538
- McLaren J, Arain M, Khomik M, Peichl M, Brodeur J (2008) Water flux components and soil water-atmospheric controls in a temperate pine forest growing in a well-drained sandy soil. Journal of Geophysical Research 113:1-16. doi: 10.1029/2007JG000653
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team (2018). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects models. R package version 3.1-137
- R Core Team (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical computing
- Reid DE, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2006) Sapwood hydraulic recovery following thinning in lodgepole pine. Annals of Forest Science 63:329-338
- Silins U, Anderson A, Bladon KD, Emelko MB, Stone M, Spencer SA, Williams CS, Wagner MJ, Martens AM, Hawthorn K (2016) Southern Rockies Watershed Project. The Forestry Chronicle 92:39-42
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW (2007) The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 143:266-276. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.01.003
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black A (2001) Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of Pinus contorta: a TDR case study. Oecologia 127:468-475. doi: 10.1007/s004420000587
- Staebler G (1956) Evidence of shock following thinning of young Douglas Fir. Journal of Forestry 54:339
- Stednick JD (1996) Monitoring the effects of timber harvest on annual water yield. Journal of Hydrology 176:79-95. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(95)02780-7
- Strong WL, Leggat KR (1992) Ecoregions of Alberta. Alberta Energy and Natural Resources, Resource Evaluation and Planning division, Edmonton
- Thorpe HC, Thomas SC (2007) Partial harvesting in the Canadian boreal: Success will depend on stand dynamic responses. The Forestry Chronicle 83:319-325. doi: 10.5558/tfc83319-3
- Vyse A, Ferguson C, Simard SW, Kano T, Puttonen P (2006) Growth of Douglas-fir, lodgepole pine, and ponderosa pine seedlings underplanted in a partially-cut, dry Douglas-fir stand in south-central British Columbia. The Forestry Chronicle 82:723-732. doi: 10.5558/tfc82723-5

- Wengert E (1976) A quick method to distinguish aspen heartwood and sapwood. Wood and Fiber Science 8:114-115
- Williams H, Messier C, Kneeshaw D (1999) Effects of light availability and sapling size on the growth and crown morphology of understory Douglas-fir and lodgepole pine. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29:222-231. doi: 10.1139/x98-189
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S (2017) Streamflow response to clear-cut logging on British Columbia's Okanagan Plateau. Ecohydrology 10:1-15. doi: 10.1002/eco.1836
- Yang K (1987) Growth ring contrast enhancement and the differentiation of sapwood and heartwood zones. Wood and Fiber Science 19:339-342
- Yoder B, Ryan M, Waring R, Schoettle A, Kaufmann M (1994) Evidence of Reduced Photosynthetic Rates in Old Trees. Forest Science 40:513-527
- Zeger S, Liang K, Albert P (1988) Models for Longitudinal Data: A Generalized Estimating Equation Approach. Biometrics 44:1049-1060. doi: 10.2307/2531734

Chapter 3: Effects of partial-cut and strip-shelterwood harvesting on atmospheric variables and soil moisture availability regulating post-harvest transpiration of lodgepole pine.

3.1 Introduction

Interactions between forest vegetation and microclimate play an important role in governing stand growing conditions and the outcome of sustainable forest management strategies to promote stand and forest health (Aussenac 2000). Forest cover modifies climatic parameters within the stand (Aussenac 2000). By removing part or all of the forest canopy, forest harvesting can alter the spatial pattern of microclimate variables such as solar radiation, wind, air temperature, and relative humidity which can affect soil water balance and water relations of the remaining un-harvested residual trees. Forest harvest strategies such as partial-cutting (PC) and strip-shelterwood (SC) may be considered as alternative low-intensity forest management strategies to address broader regional landscape management objectives such as limit impacts of forest harvesting on water balance may also alter growing conditions for residual trees. Partial canopy removal may result in decreased competition for nutrients, water, and light within the residual stands, potentially increasing the growth (and economic value) of the remaining trees.

Trees are positioned at the transition point between below- (soil moisture) and aboveground (atmospheric) components of the soil-tree-atmosphere continuum. The growth and transpiration of un-harvested residual trees is largely governed by the extent to which partial canopy removal affects both above-ground microclimate variables such as air temperature, humidity, radiation, and wind and their linkage with below-ground factors regulating soil moisture availability (soil water content and water potential). Partial canopy removal can increase overall evaporative demand for moisture through the combined effects of increased wind penetration into the stand and increased radiation which can potentially result in increased air temperatures and vapour pressure deficits (Bladon et al. 2006; Staebler 1956; Ruel et al. 2001). In contrast, reduced forest canopy density reduces canopy interception of precipitation (rain or snow) resulting in increased precipitation inputs (Aussenac and Granier 1987; Simonin et al. 2007) which along with reduced canopy water uptake can increase soil water availability for residual trees (Lagergren et al. 2008; Bladon et al. 2006). This may be particularly important for management strategies aimed at limiting hydrologic changes after forest harvesting where changes in microclimate or soil moisture may affect or even compensate for the harvest associated change in watershed evapotranspiration. Generalizing harvest effects on the transpiration and growth of the residual trees is difficult because of the complex interaction between spatial patterns of soil moisture, atmospheric moisture demand (e.g air temperature, humidity, wind), and species-specific stomatal response to these conditions (Lopushinsky and Klock 1974). For example, while moderate research attention has focused on the atmospheric or edaphic influences on the post-harvest transpiration response of juvenile lodgepole pine stands (Reid et al. 2006), far less is known about the combined influence of both above- and belowground drivers on the post-harvest transpiration response of residual, mature (> 50 years of age) stands. The adaptation of mature lodgepole pine to the new growing conditions after lowintensity harvest strategies has not (to my knowledge) been previously documented. However because mature stands are the primary focus of most forest harvesting operations, this lack of information represents an important knowledge gap needed to inform strategies employing lowintensity harvesting to address broader regional landscape management objectives. This information is also particularly important in developing management strategies to limit the impacts of forest harvesting on water resources.

Accordingly, the broad goals of this study were to evaluate spatial patterns of soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand two to three years after PC and SC harvesting in mature lodgepole pine stands in the forested Rocky Mountain region of south-west Alberta. Specific study objectives were to: a) evaluate the influence of PC and SC harvesting on seasonal patterns of microclimate variables governing atmospheric demand for moisture (above-ground controls) and soil moisture content and soil water potential (below-ground or edaphic controls); and b) evaluate the relationship between harvest associated changes in above- and below- ground controls and the transpiration response of PC and SC residual stands, and c) to explore the combined effects of both atmospheric and edaphic factors after harvesting to shed light on the relative influence of these controls on post-harvesting transpiration.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Study area

This study was conducted in Star creek watershed in Crowsnest Pass, Alberta (49°37'N, 114°40'W, ~1600 m elevation). This headwater catchment is north, north-east facing, situated within the Oldman river basin on the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains in southern Alberta (Figure 1-1). Detailed descriptions of forest cover and sub-surface geology are outlined in section 2.2.1. Mean annual precipitation and temperature is 882 mm and 4.6°C, respectively (Silins et al. 2014; Emelko et al. 2016). From 2006–2016 the mean growing season (May–August) precipitation was 284 \pm 16 mm (standard error).

This study was conducted during the snow-free season from May–August in 2017 and 2018, which represents, the primary growing season for the majority of tree growth in this region. Growing season precipitation during the two years of study (2017, 2018) was 119 mm and 129 mm, respectively.

Strip-shelterwood (SC) harvesting consisted of alternating harvested and un-harvested (reserve) strips where harvesting comprised 30 % (44 ha) of the lower section of the Star east sub-catchment (147 ha). Dispersed and patch-retention partial-cut (PC) harvesting was conducted across 58 % (55 ha) of the McLaren sub-catchment (95 ha). This study focused on the dispersed PC region, instead of the patch retention PC, which was harvested with an objective to retain single, dominant trees at approximately 5 x 5 m spacing. Plot layouts in reference, SC, and PC are described in section 2.2.2.

3.2.2 Instrumentation

Two meteorological stations were installed on October 2016 in the SC stand – one in the reserve and another in the harvested strip and on May 2017 in the reference and PC stands (Figure 2-1). The meteorological stations in the PC and reference stands were installed within 10 m of sap flow sensor-instrumented trees. In the SC stand, one meteorological station was installed in the middle of the reserve strip (7–17 m from sap flow instrumented trees) and one meteorological station was installed in the harvested strip (17 m from the reserve strip).

Meteorological instruments were mounted below canopy (3 m above ground) and at canopy height (14 m above ground) on a 15 m radio tower. At each meteorological station, similar instrument configurations were set up at both heights, with the exception of net radiation (Q*; Wm⁻²) and shortwave radiation (Q; W m⁻²), which were installed only at canopy height. Q* data was collected using a NR-Lite Net Radiometer (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT, USA). Q was measured with a SP Lite2 Pyranometer (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT, USA). Air temperature (Ta; °C) and relative humidity (RH; %) were measured using a CS215 Temperature and Relative Humidity Probe (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT, USA). Ta and RH were used to calculate ambient vapour pressure (e_a ; kPa), saturation vapour pressure (e_s ; kPa) and vapour pressure deficit ($e_s - e_a$) (D; kPa). Wind speed (μ ; ms⁻¹) was measured using a RM Young Anemometer 05103 (Campbell scientific, Logan, UT, USA). Cumulative precipitation data was collected using a Jarek Tipping Bucket Rain Gauge (Geo Scientific Ltd., Vancouver, Canada) located within a kilometer of the SC, PC, and reference stands.

Each meteorological station was powered with one 30 Watt polycrystalline solar panel (Matrix Infinity, Canada) and one 12 Volt deep cycle battery (Interstate Batteries, Canada). Prior to purchase in July 2016, all meteorological instruments were calibrated at the manufacturer's facility (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT, USA). The RM Young Anemometer was corrected for the south direction in the field at the time of installation. All atmospheric variables were sampled every 20 seconds and averaged across the hour using a CR1000 datalogger (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT, USA).

3.2.3 Atmospheric variables

Atmospheric moisture demand (E_o ; mm d⁻¹) was calculated in the reference, SC, and PC stands from mean hourly atmospheric variables measured at canopy height from May 19–August 29, 2017 and 2018 using the original Penman-combination equation (Giambelluca and Nullet 1992) (Equation 3-1):

$$E_{o} = \frac{(\Gamma \Pi) + \gamma ((0.263 + 0.138 \mu)D)}{(\Gamma + \gamma)}$$
[3-1]

Where Γ (kPa °C⁻¹) is the slope of saturation vapour pressure versus temperature curve, Π is net radiation expressed as an equivalent, daily water depth (mm d⁻¹) = 0.0353Q* (W m⁻²) (Giambelluca and Nullet 1992), and γ is the psychrometric constant (0.056 kPa °C⁻¹) (Allen et al. 1998). D is the vapour pressure deficit (mb), and μ (m s⁻¹) is the wind speed. Q* was not collected until 2018, therefore regressions with Q* and Q were used to back-calculate (gap fill) Q* in 2017. For the SC stand, μ and Q* were averaged between the reserve and harvested meteorological stations because I concluded a single measurement of μ and Q* in the centre of the reserve strip did not meaningfully represent conditions across exposed and interior portions of the strip. RH, Ta, and D all showed no significant difference between the SC harvested and reserve strip therefore these atmospheric variables were not averaged, and the reserve strip atmospheric variables were used to best represent what the residual trees were experiencing for atmospheric moisture demand.

3.2.4 Edaphic variables

Daily, depth-averaged (0–20 cm, and 0–60 cm) volumetric soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂0 cm⁻³ soil) was measured biweekly with the Time Domain Reflectometry (TDR) method (Topp et al. 1980) using a Tektronix Inc. 1502C cable tester (Tektronix Inc., Beaverton, OR, USA) employing vertically-oriented TDR probes (0–20 cm; 0–60 cm) from June 6–August 29 2017 and May 12–August 29 2018.

Soil moisture transects were installed in the reference, PC, and SC stands. Two, 100 m long transects approximately 30 m apart were installed in the reference stand, where each transect included 10 measurement locations spaced 10 m apart. Four, 50 m long transects approximately 30 m apart were installed in the PC stand, where each transect included 5 measurement locations spaced 10 m apart. Two, 210 m long transects approximately 30 m apart were installed in the SC stand spanning across the harvested and reserve strips, where each transect included 42 measurement locations spaced 5 m apart. At each measurement location, two 25 cm long (3.2 mm diameter) stainless steel rods and two 65 cm rods were inserted 20 cm and 60 cm below ground in the leaf litter and mineral soil.

Soil cores (0–20 cm, 8 cm diameter) were collected at 11 locations in the reference, SC, and PC stands on June 2018 to confirm the TDR calibration equation. Deeper cores were not

collected due to large cobbles preventing volumetric sampling of a soil core. Volumetric soil water content was consistent between the TDR method and the volumetric soil cores ($R^2 = 0.89$, n = 11) within the 0–20 cm layer.

TDR sampling locations within 10 m of the sap flow sensor-instrumented trees were used for calculation of mean θ for each stand (n = 4 for the reference stand, n = 5 for the PC stand, and n = 22 for SC stand). The TDR measurement locations within the SC stand were averaged into four different groups to reflect instrumented tree positions described in section 2.2.2 (SC as a whole, Strip N, Strip S, and Strip mid). Average θ for the harvested strips (both north and south of the reserve strip) was estimated by averaging four TDR locations on each side of the strip.

Mean, hourly volumetric soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂0 cm⁻³ soil) and temperature (°C) for the reference, PC, and SC stands were measured every 20 min and averaged over the hour using Decagon 5TM soil moisture and temperature probes (Hoskin Scientific, BC, Canada) from June 6–August 29 2017 and May 12–August 29 2018. 5TM sensors were installed in a soil pit (approximately 20 m from the sap flow instrumented tree transects) horizontally at depths of 5 cm, 20 cm, and 60 cm in each of the reference, PC, and SC stands in June 2017. All sensors were connected to an Em50 Decagon datalogger (Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA, USA).

Soil matric potential (Ψ ; kPa) was measured using soil matric potential sensors (MPS-1, Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA, USA). Each MPS-1 sensor was inserted into wet-native soil to generate a sealed contact with the ceramic plate. The MPS-1 sensors were installed at 10 cm in the mineral soil at each sap flow tree location: reference (n = 6), PC (n = 5), and SC (n = 11). Trees that were within two meters of each other were allocated the same MPS-1. All MPS-1 sensors were connected to an Em50 Decagon datalogger (Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA, USA) and recorded every 20 minutes and averaged daily in reference, PC, SC, and at different positions within the reserve strip (Strip N, Strip S, and Strip mid). Averages of Ψ mirrored the sap flow averaging: reference (n = 6), PC (n = 5), SC (n = 11), Strip N (n = 4), Strip S (n = 4), and Strip mid (n = 4).

Soil particle size analysis was measured on soil samples from 0–20 cm and 20–60 cm in the reference, SC, and PC stands using the Bouyoucos hydrometer method (Carter and Gregorich 2008), and used to estimate percent (mass) of sand (50 μ m – 2 mm diameter), silt (2 – 50 μ m) and clay (< 2 μ m diameter).

Two separate indices were used to examine the combined effects and the relative influence of harvest associated changes in above- and below-ground controls on transpiration after PC and SC harvests.

3.2.5.1 Hydrometeorologic Dryness Index (HDI)

The hydrometeorologic dryness index (HDI; mb cm⁻³ H_20 cm³ soil) was used to evaluate the overall effects of both the atmospheric and edaphic drivers in the reference, PC, and SC stands (Martin et al. 2017) (Equation 3-2):

$$HDI = \frac{D}{\theta}$$
 [3-2]

Where hourly D (mb) was measured at each meteorological station in the SC, PC, and reference stands, and θ is the mean, hourly volumetric water content (cm³ H₂0 cm⁻³ soil) in each stand. Under dry conditions, θ decreases and D increases, thereby increasing the HDI, whereas under moist conditions, D decreases and θ increases, thereby decreasing HDI. HDI_{crit} (57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) was considered a critical threshold value of the HDI where radial growth in four conifers (Douglas fir, Ponderosa pine, western larch (*Larix occidentalis*), and Engelmann spruce) across a variety of moisture regimes has been shown to decline above this value (Martin et al. 2017). In the reference, SC, and PC stands, the days that met the condition HDI < HDI_{crit} were summed up and reported as days of potential radial growth.

3.2.5.2 Relationships between stomatal conductance, vapour pressure deficit, and soil wetness

The relationships between stomatal conductance with D and θ were also used to explore the relative role of harvest associated changes in above- and below-ground controls regulating transpiration following PC and SC harvests after Novick et al. (2016). Stomatal conductance (g_s; mm s⁻¹) was estimated from measured transpiration per leaf area Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) (Chapter 2) and a simplified version of the Penman-Monteith equation (Martínez-Vilalta et al. 2003; Kozlowski 1968; Jarvis and Stewart 1979) (Equation 3-3).

$$g_{s} = \frac{\gamma \lambda Q_{L}}{\rho_{a} c_{a} D}$$
[3-3]

Where λ is the latent heat of vapourization (MJ kg⁻¹), ρ_a is the density of air (1.225 kg m⁻³), c_a is the heat capacity of air (1.0 * 10-3 MJ kg⁻¹ K⁻¹), and γ is the psychrometric constant (0.056 kPa °C⁻¹) (Martínez-Vilalta et al. 2003; Monteith 1965; Reid et al. 2006). Similar to the approach used by Novick et al. (2016), the coupling of Q_L to D was evaluated by exploring variation in the relationship between D and g_s at different levels (percentiles) of soil wetness (Equation 3-4):

$$g_s = g_{sref} [1 - m * \ln D]$$
 [3-4]

Mean hourly measurements/estimates of g_s , D, and θ were used for the analysis where relationships between D and g_s for PC, SC, and reference stands were evaluated across four levels of increasing θ (0–25, 25–50, 50–75, and 75–100 percentiles) for 2018. The soil moisture percentiles were representative of the distribution of shallow soil moisture rather than the absolute values in the reference, PC, and SC stands, where the SC stand demonstrated an elevated range of soil moisture compared to the other stands (Figure 3-9). The sensitivity of g_s to D or θ is described by the reference stomatal conductance (g_{sref} ; mm s⁻¹) and the slope of the relationship with D (m; kPa⁻¹) (Novick et al. 2016; Oren et al. 1999) (Equation 3-4). Reference stomatal conductance is the stomatal conductance to D" (Novick et al. 2016; Oren et al. 1999). Both parameters g_{sref} and m were determined from Equation 3-4 within each θ percentile category (quartile) by a linear regression of g_s versus ln D (Novick et al. 2016; Oren et al. 1999). The parameters derived from Equation 3-4 were then used to assess whether θ or D likely limited g_s in SC, PC, and reference stands.

3.2.6 Data analysis

Repeated measures ANOVA was used to evaluate differences in seasonal microclimate variables (Ta, RH, D, μ , Q*), their combined effect on atmospheric moisture demand (E_o), soil moisture content (θ), and soil water potential (Ψ) between the reference, PC, and SC (harvested and reserve) stands. Linear mixed models were evaluated with day as the random component and a correlation structure (AR 1) for temporally auto-correlated data (Pinheiro et al. 2018). Welch's ANOVA was used if data met the assumption of normality but not homogenous variance. The Kruskal-Wallis test was used if data did not meet the assumption of normality but had homogenous variance. Otherwise least square means were used to evaluate differences in microclimate variables, E_o , θ , and Ψ between all study treatments.

Variation in transpiration as a function of atmospheric (E_o) and edaphic (θ) drivers, independent of harvesting, were evaluated. Daily transpiration, E_o , and θ in 2017 and 2018 were used in linear, mixed models with tree as the random component. Standardized coefficients of the model were extracted to determine the relative importance of explanatory variables to whole tree transpiration. Standardized coefficients are helpful when variables have different scales of measurement because they allow for comparability across variables by standardizing according to common characteristics – means and standard deviations (Kim and Ferree 1981). All analyses were implemented in R (R Core Team 2018), with significance reported relative to $\alpha = 0.05$.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Microclimate conditions

Relationships between Q* and Q during 2018 used to gap fill missing 2017 records for Q* were Q* = $0.8027 \text{ Q} - 56.952 (\text{R}^2 = 0.75)$ for the reference stand, Q* = $0.8334 \text{ Q} - 64.453 (\text{R}^2 = 0.99)$ for the SC stand, and Q* = $0.6621 \text{ Q} - 57.383 (\text{R}^2 = 0.92)$ for the PC stand. All regressions were applied to the measured Q in 2017 to infer Q* for 2017.

2017 and 2018 growing season averages of Ta (°C), D (mb), RH (%), μ (m s⁻¹), Q* (W m⁻²), and daily E_o (mm d⁻¹) are presented in Table 3-1. While Ta, D, and RH did not vary significantly between harvest and reference stands (p > 0.05) minor (non-significant) differences

in mean D (3 % and 7 % greater in the SC stand and PC stand compared to the reference stand, respectively) and RH (2 % and 3 % less in the SC stand and the PC stand compared to the reference stand, respectively) were weakly evident. In contrast, μ was elevated by 50 % in the SC reserve strip, by 228 % in the SC harvested strip, and by 333 % in the PC stand compared to the reference (p < 0.05). Similarly, Q* was elevated by 15 % in the SC reserve strip but was 6 % and 2 % lower in the SC harvested strip and PC stand compared to the reference (p < 0.05).

3.3.2 Combined atmospheric controls (E_o)

Daily atmospheric demand for moisture (E_0 ; mm d⁻¹) ranged from 0.2–7.4 mm d⁻¹ across both growing seasons in the SC, PC, and reference stands (Figure 3-1). Mean E_0 was greater in SC and PC stands compared to the reference stand throughout the growing season. The 2017 average daily E_0 in the reference stand was 4.5 mm d⁻¹, compared to 4.7 mm d⁻¹, and 4.9 mm d⁻¹ for SC and PC, respectively. In 2018, the reference was 4.0 mm d⁻¹, SC was 4.3 mm d⁻¹, and PC was 4.3 mm d⁻¹ (Table 3-1). With respect to total E_0 all three sites were significantly different in 2017, whereas SC and PC were only marginally significantly different from reference in 2018 (Figure 3-2). Total growing season E_0 ranged from 405–490 mm for the reference, SC, and PC stands. Early season (May 19–July 15) cumulative E_0 ranged from 246–307 mm and the late season (July 16–August 29) ranged from 159–208 mm. In the SC stand total E_0 was 6 % and 7 % greater, while in the PC stand total E_0 was greater by 9 % and 8 % compared to the reference stand for 2017 and 2018, respectively.

3.3.3 Relationship of transpiration with E_o

The relationships between mean, hourly transpiration (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) and atmospheric moisture demand ($E_{o;}$ mm h⁻¹) varied strongly between the early and late season (same dates as section 2.3.2) in the reference, PC, and SC stands (Figure 3-3 and Table 3-2). Transpiration increased strongly with E_o early in the growing season while Q_L was far less sensitive to variation in E_o during the latter part of the growing season in all stands for both 2017 and 2018 (Figure 3-3). However, early season increases in Q_L with E_o were greater in both PC and SC stands compared to the reference stand. Among harvest treatments, transpiration was most strongly elevated in the PC stand compared to the SC stand and the reference stand. Differences in relationships between Q_L and E_o among harvested and reference stands were notably weaker late in the growing season in both 2017 and 2018. In contrast, late season Q_L in the SC stand was greater than the PC stand which was greater than the reference stand in both 2017 and 2018.

Similar patterns in the relationships between mean hourly transpiration (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) and atmospheric moisture demand (E_{0} ; mm h⁻¹) during the early and late season (same dates as section 2.3.2) were evident across different positions within the reserve strip of the SC stand (Strip N, Strip S, and Strip mid; Figure 3-4 and Table 3-3). The increase in early season Q_L to E_0 in the Strip N position was greater than Strip S which was greater than Strip mid in 2017, in contrast to 2018 when Strip mid was greater than Strip N which was greater than Strip S. Late season Q_L was also less sensitive to variation in E_0 , however trees in the N position showed greater Q_L and greater sensitivity to variation in E_0 then Strip S and Strip mid during both years (Figure 3-4).

The standardized coefficients extracted from the mixed model showed that the variation of transpiration was most significantly influenced during the early season by atmospheric controls (E_0 , standard coefficient = 0.48) compared to -0.031 as the standard coefficient for below ground soil moisture controls (0–20 cm depth layers).

3.3.4 Edaphic conditions

Soil textural class was similar between the reference, SC, and PC stands. The texture of the top 0–20 cm samples was loam in the SC stand and sandy loam in the reference and PC stands. The texture of the 20–60 cm samples was loam in the SC stand and sandy clay loam in the reference and PC stands (Table 3-4). The average thickness of the LFH layer for the 0–20 cm and 0–60 cm TDR measurement locations were 4.4 ± 0.8 cm and 5.3 ± 1.0 cm, respectively for the reference stand, 5.9 ± 0.9 cm and 6.5 ± 0.9 cm for the SC stand, and 3.4 ± 0.9 cm and 4.2 ± 1.2 cm for the PC stand (data not shown).

Surface soil moisture (0–20 cm) differed strongly across stands where TDR-measured θ (0–20 cm) was consistently greatest in SC compared to the reference stand, while θ in the reference stand was marginally greater than PC (Figure 3-5). For all three treatments, TDR-measured θ (0–20 cm) ranged from 0.1–0.4 cm³ cm⁻³ with a general decline towards August 29.

Surface soil moisture in SC was 67 % and 35 % greater, whereas PC was 13 % and 6 % less than the reference stand in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Soil moisture in SC, PC, and reference stands were all significantly different from each other throughout 2017 whereas in 2018, soil moisture in only the SC stand was significantly greater than both PC and reference stands. Similarly, surface θ (0–20 cm) in the northern portion of the reserve strip (Strip N) was consistently greater than both Strip S and Strip mid (Figure 3-6). Soil moisture in Strip N was 21 % and 35 % greater than Strip mid in 2017 and 2018, respectively (p < 0.05). Soil moisture in Strip S was 8 % less (p < 0.05) in 2017 but was similar to Strip mid in 2018. Soil moisture in Strip N was 17 % and 18 % greater than Strip S in 2017 and 2018, respectively (p < 0.05). Soil moisture varied significantly across (Strip N, Strip S, and Strip mid) throughout 2017 whereas in 2018, only Strip N differed from Strip S and Strip mid.

Strip harvesting had a large effect on surface soil moisture through the growing season (Table 3-5). Mean θ in the top 20 cm of harvested strips was significantly greater than in the reserve strips where the harvested strips on the southern side (more exposed to direct radiation, see Figure 2-1) of the reserve strips had 36 % greater moisture and the harvested strip on the more shaded northern side had 61 % greater moisture than the un-harvested reserve strip (p < 0.05, Table 3-5). Across the harvested strip a gradient of surface soil moisture developed (from the northern shaded side to the direct radiation, southern side). The gradient of soil moisture changed within the growing season where during the early season the gradient was approximately 15 % higher on the northern side, however with the onset of the drier season the gradient increased from 28 % to 35 % higher on the northern side compared to the southern side in late July to mid-August, respectively.

Growing season averaged TDR-measured θ in the deeper 20–60 cm soil layers of the PC stand was greater than the SC stand which was greater than the reference stand for both 2017 and 2018 (Table 3-6). For all three treatments, deeper θ (20–60 cm) ranged from 0.2–0.4 cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil with a general decline towards August 29. Soil moisture of deeper soils in PC were 33 % and 50 % greater, while θ in SC was similar to the reference stand in 2017 and 2018, respectively (Table 3-6). Similarly, mean growing season deeper θ (20–60 cm) in differing positions in the reserve strip was greatest in Strip mid compared to Strip S and Strip N for both 2017 and 2018 (Table 3-6). Deeper θ in Strip N was 18 % and 23 % less, while Strip S was 5 % and 9 % less than deep soil moisture in Strip mid during 2017 and 2018, respectively.

Consistent with spatial and temporal patterns in soil moisture, mean daily soil matric potential (Ψ ; kPa) showed strong seasonal variation across the growing season in all stands (Figure 3-7 and 3-8). Variability between the matric potential sensors was moderate (~ 30 %), therefore while absolute values were interpreted with caution, relative differences across the season provided insights into spatial and temporal patterns. Mean soil Ψ was consistently greatest in the SC harvested stand and lowest in the PC harvested stand and was significantly different among all treatments (p < 0.05) for both 2017 and 2018. For all three treatments, mean daily Ψ ranged from 0 to -350 kPa and showed a gradual decline to August 29 (Figure 3-7). Mean growing season Ψ in the SC stand was 28 % and 7 % greater, while mean Ψ in the PC stand was 41 % and 65 % less compared to the reference stand in 2017 and 2018, respectively (Table 3-1). Similarly in the reserve strip, mean daily Ψ in the Strip mid position was constantly greater than in Strip N which was greater than Strip S for both 2017 and 2018. Mean daily Ψ ranged from 0 to -300 kPa (Figure 3-8) with Strip mid being significantly different from Strip N and Strip S in 2017 and all reserve positions were significantly different in 2018. Mean growing season Ψ in Strip N was 66 % and 16 % less, while Ψ in Strip S was 61 % and 36 % less than in Strip mid during 2017 and 2018, respectively.

3.3.5 Relationship of transpiration and edaphic controls

Relationships between mean daily Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) and mean daily surface (0–20 cm) θ (cm³ H₂0 cm⁻³ soil) across the growing season illustrated highly variable sensitivity (regression slopes) of Q_L to variation in θ across reference, PC, and SC stands (Figure 3-9 and Table 3-7). Slopes of the regression between Q_L and θ during the early growing season in 2017 were 4.83 and 3.17 for PC and reference stands compared to 0.24 for SC, while late season regressions were more similar among stands (3.87 for PC, 4.81 for reference, and 2.50 for SC). In 2018, no coherent relationship between Q_L and θ was evident during the early growing season, while during the late season the slopes of these relationships were 2.85 for PC, 3.13 for reference, and 3.43 for SC.

While no generally consistent pattern in the relationships between Q_L and θ were observed during the early season, these relationships indicated a greater degree of sensitivity of Q_L to variation in θ later in the growing season of both years. This was confirmed by the

standardized coefficients from the mixed model that showed that the variation in transpiration as a function of θ was the dominant control over transpiration during the late season with a standardized coefficient of 0.51 compared to 0.24 for the above ground driver (E_o) during the same period.

3.3.6 Combined influence of atmospheric and edaphic controls on transpiration

The hydrometeorologic dryness index (HDI) (mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) for the 0–20 cm and the 20–60 cm soil layer was estimated and compared with daily transpiration (Q_L) in the reference, SC, and PC stands for the 2017 and 2018 growing season in Figure 3-10 and Figure 3-11. For HDI, the mean and range of this index is less important than other key parameters such as the a) initial cross-over date (date when low early season HDI exceeds transpiration rates (Q_L) during drier, late growing season periods) and b) when HDI indicates favorable conditions for radial tree growth (HDI < HDI_{crit} 57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) (Martin et al. 2017).

HDI and Q_L for both shallow (0-20 cm) and deeper (20-60 cm) soil layers co-varied throughout the two growing seasons in 2017 and 2018 with the shallow layer demonstrating more variation in the HDI index. During the early growing season, when conditions were nonmoisture limiting, QL remained high with a corresponding low HDI. However, later in the season when environmental conditions became drier in all stands, HDI increased with a corresponding decline in Q_L. Within each stand, similar patterns of increasing late season HDI corresponding to declining Q_L as moisture limitations developed were evident during both years, however the timing of this pattern varied among stands. The cross-over date is representative of a change from wetter to drier conditions indicated by a rising HDI with a declining Q_L likely reflecting stomatal restrictions to conserve water. HDI based on shallow soil moisture storage (0-20 cm) exceeded Q_L in the reference stand on Julian day 203 and 210 in 2017 and 2018, respectively (Table 3-8), whereas this occurred in the SC stand 5 days and 10 days later in 2017 and 2018, respectively. This suggests that SC was less moisture limited than the reference stand in both years. Cross-over dates in the PC stand occurred within a day of the reference stand. Cross-over dates for HDI and Q_L based on soil moisture of deeper soil layers (20-60 cm) depth did not seem to differ in 2017. However in 2018, the cross-over date in the SC and PC stand occurred 10 and 8 days later than the reference stand, respectively, suggesting residual trees in both harvested stands were less moisture limited than the reference stand in 2018.

Similarly, HDI in the shallow (0–20 cm) soil layer was less than HDI_{crit} (indicating favourable conditions for radial tree growth) for an average of 36 days in the reference stand, 51 days in the SC stand, and 36 days in the PC stand (Table 3-9). The SC stand had 40 % greater number of days when HDI was below HDI_{crit} and the PC stand had the same number of days that HDI < HDI_{crit} compared to the reference stand. In the deeper (20–60 cm) soil layer HDI was less than HDI_{crit} for an average of 51 days in the reference stand, 49 days in the SC stand and 66 days in the PC stand (Table 3-9). The SC stand had a 4 % fewer days when HDI was below HDI_{crit} compared to the reference stand in contrast to the PC stand which had 29 % greater number of days below this threshold compared to the reference stand. HDI of both shallow and deeper soil layers indicated more favourable conditions for radial growth in the harvested stands compared to the reference stand.

The relationships between the 2018 normalized stomatal conductance ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$; mm s⁻¹ mm⁻¹ s) and D (kPa) showed considerable variation of stomatal sensitivity to D across the variable soil moisture regimes (4 soil moisture quartiles) in the reference, SC, and PC stands (Figure 3-12). Under conditions where g_s is less sensitive to variation in soil moisture, relationships between gs gsref⁻¹ and D would show little variation in intercepts. In contrast, where g_s is more sensitive to variation in atmospheric drought, variation in regression slopes indicates greater sensitivity to D. Trees from all stands in this study showed considerable variation in both intercepts and slopes indicating a moderate to high degree of stomatal sensitivity to variation in both atmospheric and soil drought (Table 3-10). At the driest, lower quartile of soil moisture, trees in all stands showed little sensitivity (slope parameter m) in gs gsref⁻¹ to variation in D (Figure 3-12), whereas under moister conditions (upper soil moisture quartile), gs gsref⁻¹ was more sensitive (greater slope or parameter m) to variation in D (particularly in the PC and SC stands). However, the greatest differences were evident across stand types and the sensitivity of $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ to soil drought (intercepts). For example, $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ in the reference stand was reduced from approximately 1.79 to 0.59 (~ 67 %) when soil moisture was reduced to median values (50^{th} percentile) and by a similar percentage (~ 67 %) in the PC stand. In contrast, $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ was reduced by a much lower proportion (~ 37 %) in the SC stand, indicating lower sensitivity to soil drought relative to the reference stand.

3.4 Discussion

Results of this study showed that spatial patterns of surface soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand increased transpiration rates of residual lodgepole pine after harvesting with both distributed single tree PC, and spatially discrete SC harvesting strategies. The differential patterns of transpiration in the harvested and un-harvested stands mirrored the spatial distribution of altered post-harvest soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand. Residual trees in all harvested and un-harvested sites were generally more influenced by atmospheric moisture demand earlier in the season when soil moisture was greater, but soil moisture was the main driver of tree water relations during the drier, late season.

3.4.1 Atmospheric demand and transpiration

Daily atmospheric moisture demand (E_o; mm d⁻¹) was elevated in the strip-shelterwood (SC) and partial-cut (PC) stands compared to the reference stand throughout the season (Figure 3-1; 3-2). Differences in mean daily and total E_0 between harvested and reference stands were consistent with similar effects on post-harvest changes in atmospheric demand for moisture reported by previous studies on partial cutting (Marenholtz et al. 2010; Bladon et al. 2006; Reid et al. 2006). Total E_o was greatest in the PC stand followed by the SC stand which were both greater than in the reference stand for both growing seasons. Wind speed and net radiation were the main factors driving this E_o response, where wind speeds increased by two-four fold in the harvested sites compared to the reference stand and net radiation decreased in the harvested sites, likely due to an increase in outgoing radiation. However, in this study the increase in E_0 (< 10 %) in the harvested stands was less than the increases in E_0 reported in Bladon et al. (2006) (290 %) and Marenholtz et al. (2010) (37 %). Differences in both harvest intensity and height of the anemometers were likely factors in explaining the discrepancy in E_{0} increases among studies, where Bladon et al. (2006) and Marenholtz et al. (2010) reported on changes in microclimate after 90 % and 74 % tree removal, respectively, compared to an average harvest intensity of 34 % in this study. Similarly, anemometers were situated lower (12 m and 2 m above ground, respectively) compared to the 14 m in this study.
Hourly transpiration (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) as a function of hourly atmospheric moisture demand (E_0 ; mm h⁻¹) under clear-sky conditions (both early and late season) displayed an asymptotic relationship during the morning to early afternoon hours (7:00–14:00) (Figure 3-3). The reduction in both mid-day and late growing season Q_L likely reflected stomatal closure to limit the loss of hydraulic conductivity and cavitation during high mid-day atmospheric moisture demand and with the decline in soil moisture availability during the late season (Brix 1978; Lopushinsky and Klock 1974; Reid et al. 2006). However, despite high evaporative demand during the drier, late season, trees in both PC and SC stands were able to maintain greater transpiration rates compared to those in reference stands, illustrating the importance of even small increases in soil moisture in harvested sites during this period. In the SC stands, greater soil moisture during dry periods in Strip N were also associated with notably greater transpiration of trees in this position (Figure 3-4).

3.4.2 Soil moisture availability and transpiration

Shallow soil moisture θ (0–20 cm) was greater in the harvested sites due to the combined increases in throughfall of spring/summer rain that would occur after canopy removal and reduced total transpiration losses. Soil moisture (0-50 cm) has been observed to increase (4-30 %) after harvest due to reduced interception and increased infiltration (Lagergren et al. 2008; Bladon et al. 2006). In this study, shallow soil moisture (0–20 cm) increased by 50 % in the SC stand and decreased by 10 % in the PC stand compared to the reference stand while deeper soil moisture (20-60 cm) increased by 50 % in the PC stand and remained the same in the SC stand compared to the reference stand. The spatial pattern of moisture within the entire 0-60 cm TDRmeasured profile likely governed the transpiration response of the residual stand. Other studies on soil moisture after thinning reported that during times of periodic drought, a small increase in soil moisture can benefit the stand greatly (Saxton and Rawls 2006; Lagergren et al. 2008). In this study, the key role of moisture was apparent in all stands during the 2017 and 2018 drought years. Both growing seasons during this study had < 50 % summer precipitation compared to the 10 year average and the PC and reference stands approached wilting point conditions (sandy loam to loam ($\theta \sim 11$ %)) by late July in 2017 and 2018 (Saxton and Rawls 2006). The important role of soil moisture was further evident in the SC stand (specifically the northern side of the

strip). The alternating pattern in the SC stand of harvested and un-harvested strips delayed snowmelt due to shading, resulting in 18 % greater soil moisture and soil matric potential on the northern side compared to the southern side of the reserve strip. This moisture gradient was likely a crucial factor in the elevated transpiration response of trees in the Strip N position which likely reflected greater roots access to moisture through to the late, drier season.

3.4.3 Drivers of transpiration – atmospheric or edaphic?

Seasonal patterns of water use illustrated that both atmospheric moisture demand and soil moisture are the primary above- and below-ground controls over transpiration in lodgepole pine.

Both PC and SC harvest strategies produced strong variation in these drivers across the wetter and drier part of the growing season compared to the reference stand. The HDI reported in this study were within the range of HDI reported in Martin et al. (2017). HDI based on shallow (0-20 cm) soils in the SC stand remained low throughout the season indicating less moisture limitations compared to the reference and the PC stand. Similarly, the SC stand also displayed the greatest number of days with favourable radial growing conditions in both years where shallow HDI < HDI_{crit} (57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) and had a delayed initial cross-over date for both shallow and deep soil layers, indicating less moisture limitation in that stand. HDI based on deeper (20–60 cm) soils in the PC stand remained low throughout the season indicating less moisture limitations compared to the reference and the SC stand. Similarly, the PC stand displayed the greatest number of days with favourable radial growing conditions in both years where soil layers in the PC stand remained low throughout the season indicating less moisture limitations compared to the reference and the SC stand. Similarly, the PC stand displayed the greatest number of days with favourable radial growing conditions in both years where deeper HDI < HDI_{crit} and had a delayed initial cross-over date for the deep soil layers in 2018 indicating less moisture limitation. The greater soil moisture availability both in the top 20 cm and the 20–60 cm soil layers in the harvested sites were likely key factors in the increased transpiration rates after harvesting in the PC and the SC stands.

The greater number of days with favourable radial growing conditions (HDI< HDI_{crit}) in the harvested stands compared to the un-harvested stand is an important finding. The alternative harvests were established in mature lodgepole pine stands where pre-harvest conditions likely had limited or stagnant growth and high competition for water and nutrients. Increasing the number of days with favourable radial growing conditions would be a benefit to the growth of the forest stand for future harvesting operations.

An analysis from Novick et al. (2016) was used as a second method to determine the primary driver (above-ground (D) or below-ground (θ)) that governed transpiration in the reference, SC, and PC stands. Exploring the sensitivity of g_s to D or θ across PC and SC harvesting strategies has not (in my knowledge) been previously documented. Previous studies have assessed the sensitivity of g_s to D or θ over a wide range of xeric to mesic biomes and/or species (Novick et al. 2016; Novick et al. 2019). However, this study assessed the same species but explored whether the influence of the above- or below-ground controls changed with harvest. Trees from all stands showed considerable variation in both the intercepts and slopes of the relationship between $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ and D. The intercept will decrease as the influence of soil conductance to stomatal conductance increases or also in response to the regulation of leaf water potential during periods of hydrologic stress (isohydric response) (Novick et al. 2016). Patterns of the relationships observed in this study were consistent with xeric type biomes with a dryness index (annual E_o precipitation⁻¹) of around five reported in Novick et al. (2016), while this study had a dryness index of 0.67 (10 year average of annual potential evapotranspiration is 589 mm and annual precipitation is 876 mm). This discrepancy is a result of the study location. The dryness index incorporates annual potential evapotranspiration and precipitation therefore in a snow-dominated forested watershed, such as the southern Rockies, evapotranspiration will be minimal with below zero temperatures when the precipitation is primarily tied up in snowpack.

The slopes of the relationship between $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ with D or θ were moderately similar among stands, however the decline in intercepts illustrates the transpiration responses to harvest effects on θ , where the SC stand in particular was not as sensitive to the onset of soil drought as the other two stands. Greater soil moisture in the SC stand was likely aided by greater θ in the adjacent harvested strips which likely contributed to elevated stomatal conductance in the SC stand compared to the other harvested and un-harvested stands with declining late season soil moisture.

Within each stand, the slope of the relationship between $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ and D in each soil moisture percentile provided an indication of the seasonal influence of each driver (D or θ) governing transpiration. Early season transpiration was governed by the atmospheric controls (D) when soil moisture was not limiting (Figure 3-12; greatest slope at highest soil moisture percentile). In contrast, the slope of the relationship between $g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$ and D at the lowest soil moisture percentile (0-25; late season moisture) was minimal likely because of stomatal closure and little, if any sensitivity to atmospheric control. This idea of soil moisture primarily governing late season with atmospheric moisture demand exerting greater control in the early season is supported both by the relationships between transpiration (Q_L) and θ in Figure 3-9 and is consistent with suggestions from previous harvesting studies (Lagergren et al. 2008; Simonin et al. 2007).

Determining a concrete driver that influences transpiration can be difficult in a natural setting, let alone determining one between an un-harvested to harvested mature stand. Some studies have found that transpiration increases linearly with D but only to a certain point (0.8-1 kPa) (MacKay et al. 2012) where other studies have concluded soil moisture is the limiting factor (Donner and Running 1986). While, it has been well–documented that water is the most important limiting resource for tree growth (Granier and Breda 1996; Wullschleger, S.D. and Hanson 2006), results of this study suggest that soil water availability appears as the main driver governing transpiration in the harvested and un-harvested stands while atmospheric moisture demand has a moderate impact but only during times of greater soil moisture conditions.

3.5 Conclusion

The atmospheric moisture demand increased and spatial patterns of surface soil moisture (0–20 cm) developed after two alternative harvest (PC and SC) strategies were employed in mature, moderately dense lodgepole pine. Elevated atmospheric moisture demand in the harvest stands was a product of higher wind speeds and modified radiation regimes. Surface soil moisture (θ) was the greatest in the SC stand particularly on the northern edge of the reserve strip, whereas the PC stand produced the greatest θ in the 20–60 cm depth. These spatial patterns were indicative of decreased interception and delay in snowmelt. The differential patterns of transpiration in the harvested and un-harvested stands mirrored the spatial distribution of soil moisture and atmospheric moisture demand. Timing was key in determining which above- or below-ground driver governed transpiration. Residual trees in all harvested and un-harvested sites were generally more influenced by the atmospheric moisture demand earlier in the season when soil moisture was non-limiting, but soil moisture was the main driver during the drier, late season.

65

Table 3-1. Mean (\pm standard error) growing season micrometeorological conditions for 2017 and 2018 in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands. Treatments with the same letter are not significantly different at $\alpha = 0.05$. E_o not estimated in SC (harvested).

| 2017 | reference | SC (reserve) | SC (harvested) | РС | р | ref: SC (reserve): SC(harvested) : PC |
|----------------------------|---|-----------------|-------------------|---|--------|--|
| Ta (°C) | 15.0 ± 0.4 | 15.0 ± 0.4 | 15.0 ± 0.4 | 15.0 ± 0.4 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| D (mb) | 9.7 ± 0.5 | 9.9 ± 0.5 | 9.9 ± 0.5 | 10.3 ± 0.5 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| μ (m s ⁻¹) | 0.30 ± 0.02 | 0.30 ± 0.02 | 0.98 ± 0.03 | $\begin{array}{c} 1.30 \pm \\ 0.06 \end{array}$ | < 0.05 | a:a:b:c |
| Q* (W m ⁻²) | 132 ± 5 | 155 ± 5 | 124 ± 4 | 129 ± 4 | < 0.05 | a:b:a:a |
| RH (%) | 51 ± 1 | 50 ± 2 | 50 ± 1 | 49 ± 1 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| Ψ (kPa) | -174 ± 8 | -125 ± 8 | - | -246 ± 12 | < 0.05 | a:b:-:c |
| $E_o(mm d^{-1})$ | 4.5 ± 0.2 | 4.7 ± 0.1 | - | 4.9 ± 0.1 | < 0.05 | a:b:-:c |
| | | | | | | |
| 2018 | reference | SC (reserve) | SC (harvested) | РС | р | ref: SC (reserve): SC(harvested): PC |
| Ta (°C) | 14.0 ± 0.4 | 14.2 ± 0.5 | 14.8 ± 0.5 | 15.0 ± 0.4 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| D (mb) | 8.6 ± 0.5 | 8.9 ± 0.5 | 8.9 ± 0.5 | 9.2 ± 0.5 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| μ (m s ⁻¹) | $\begin{array}{c} 0.31 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$ | 0.61 ± 0.02 | 0.99 ± 0.04 | 1.30 ± 0.06 | < 0.05 | a:b:c:d |
| Q* (W m ⁻²) | 121 ± 5 | 139 ± 6 | 113 ± 5 | 118 ± 4 | < 0.05 | a:b:a:a |
| RH (%) | 56 ± 1 | 54 ± 2 | 55 ± 2 | 54 ± 1 | > 0.05 | a:a:a:a |
| Ψ (kPa) | -68 ± 7 | -63 ± 7 | - | -112 ± 9 | < 0.05 | a:b:-:c |
| $E_o(mm d^{-1})$ | 4.0 ± 0.2 | 4.3 ± 0.2 | - | 4.3 ± 0.1 | < 0.05 | a:b:-:b |

Table 3-2. Summary of relationships between hourly Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) and E_o (mm h⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) during early and late season in 2017, 2018, shown in Figure 3-3.

| | 20 |)17 | 2018 | | |
|-----------|---|---|--|---|--|
| | Early | Late | Early | Late | |
| reference | $y \sim 0.03\sqrt{x} - 0.005$ $R^2 = 0.83$ | $y \sim 0.01 \sqrt{x} - 0.002$ $R^2 = 0.48$ | $y \sim 0.02 \sqrt{x} - 0.002$ $R^2 = 0.71$ | $y \sim -0.01 \sqrt{x} + 0.003$ $R^2 = 0.61$ | |
| SC | $\begin{array}{c} y \sim 0.05 \sqrt{x} \\ 0.01 \\ R^2 = 0.88 \end{array}$ | $y \sim 0.02 \sqrt{x} - 0.0004$ $R^2 = 0.74$ | $y \sim 0.043 \sqrt{x} - 0.01$ $R^2 = 0.78$ | $y \sim 0.01 \sqrt{x} - 0.002$ $R^2 = 0.56$ | |
| РС | $y \sim 0.07 \sqrt{x} - 0.02$ $R^2 = 0.87$ | $y \sim 0.02 \sqrt{x} - 0.003$ $R^2 = 0.47$ | $y \sim 0.07 \sqrt{x} - 0.03$ $R^2 = 0.69$ | $y \sim -0.0004 \sqrt{x} + 0.002 R^2 = 0.002$ | |

Table 3-3. Summary of relationships between hourly Q_L (L m⁻² h⁻¹) and E_o (mm h⁻¹) for Strip mid, Strip S, and Strip N during early and late season in 2017, 2018, shown in Figure 3-4.

| | 2 | 2017 | | 2018 |
|---------|--|---------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| | Early | Late | Early | Late |
| Strip | $y \sim 0.04 \sqrt{x} - 0.01$ $R^2 = 0.87$ | $y \sim 0.01\sqrt{x} - 0.0003$ | $y \sim 0.05\sqrt{x} - 0.01$ | $y \sim 0.01 \sqrt{x} - 0.0004$ |
| mid | | $R^2 = 0.68$ | $R^2 = 0.83$ | $R^2 = 0.25$ |
| Strip S | $y \sim 0.05\sqrt{x} - 0.01$ | $y \sim 0.01 \sqrt{x} - 0.0006$ | $y \sim 0.03 \sqrt{x} - 0.009$ | $y \sim 0.01\sqrt{x} - 0.002$ |
| | $R^2 = 0.89$ | $R^2 = 0.82$ | $R^2 = 0.75$ | $R^2 = 0.49$ |
| Strip N | $y \sim 0.06\sqrt{x} - 0.01$ | $y \sim 0.02\sqrt{x} - 0.0004$ | $y \sim 0.04\sqrt{x} - 0.01$ | $y \sim 0.04\sqrt{x} - 0.009$ |
| | $R^2 = 0.87$ | $R^2 = 0.79$ | $R^2 = 0.74$ | $R^2 = 0.77$ |

Table 3-4. Mean soil texture using the Bouyoucos hydrometer method for shallow (0–20 cm) and deeper soil profiles (20–60 cm) in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands. Soil texture is as follows- Sandy Clay Loam (SCL), Sandy Loam (SL), and Loam (L).

| | 0–20cm | | | | | 20 |)–60cm | |
|----------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------|
| Harvest Treatment | Sand (%) | Silt (%) | Clay (%) | Soil Texture | Sand (%) | Silt (%) | Clay (%) | Soil Texture |
| reference | 61 | 30 | 9 | SL | 48 | 24 | 28 | SCL |
| РС | 50 | 26 | 15 | SL | 59 | 18 | 23 | SCL |
| SC | 51 | 34 | 15 | L | 52 | 29 | 19 | L |

Table 3-5. Mean (\pm standard error) TDR-measured soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂0 cm⁻³ soil) of shallow (0–20 cm) soil layers in reserve and harvested strips during 2017, 2018.

| | 2017 | 2018 | 2017 % ∆ from reserve strip | $\begin{array}{c} 2018 \% \\ \Delta \text{ from} \\ \text{reserve} \\ \text{strip} \end{array}$ | <i>p</i> for 2017 | <i>p</i> for 2018 |
|--|---|---|--------------------------------------|---|-------------------|-------------------|
| Harvested strip (southern edge of reserve) | $\begin{array}{c} 0.31 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.30 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$ | 29 % ↑ | 43 % ↑ | < 0.05 | <0.05 |
| Reserve Strip | $\begin{array}{c} 0.24 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.21 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$ | - | - | - | - |
| Harvested strip (northern edge of reserve) | $\begin{array}{c} 0.37 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.35 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$ | 54 % ↑ | 67 % ↑ | < 0.05 | <0.05 |

| | 2017 | 2018 | % Δ 2017 | % Δ 2018 | <i>p</i> for 2017 | <i>p</i> for 2018 |
|-----------|------|------|-------------|-------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| reference | 0.21 | 0.20 | - | - | - | - |
| SC | 0.21 | 0.20 | +/- 0 % | +/- 0 % | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| PC | 0.28 | 0.30 | 33 % ↑ | 50 % ↑ | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| Strip mid | 0.22 | 0.22 | - | - | - | < 0.05 |
| Strip S | 0.21 | 0.20 | 5 % ↓ | 9 % ↓ | >0.05 | < 0.05 |
| Strip N | 0.18 | 0.17 | 18 % ↓ | 23 % ↓ | >0.05 | < 0.05 |

Table 3-6 Mean seasonal TDR-measured soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil) in deeper soil layers (20–60 cm) during 2017 and 2018. The percent difference is shown relative to reference or Strip mid, respectively.

| 2017 | Early | Late |
|-----------|--|---|
| reference | y = 3.17x - 0.23 R ² = 0.12 p < 0.05 | y = 4.81x - 0.50 $R^2 = 0.57 p < 0.05$ |
| SC | $\begin{array}{l} y = 0.24x \text{ - } 0.17 \\ R^2 = 0.007 \ p > 0.05 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{l} y = 2.50x \text{ - } 0.31 \\ R^2 = 0.49 \ p < 0.05 \end{array}$ |
| PC | y = 4.83x - 0.29 R ² = 0.38 p < 0.05 | $y = 3.87x - 0.25$ $R^2 = 0.63 p < 0.05$ |
| 2018 | Early | Late |
| reference | $\begin{array}{l} y = 0.51x + 0.07 \\ R^2 = 0.012 \ p > 0.05 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{l} y = 3.13 x - 0.32 \\ R^2 = 0.69 \ p < 0.05 \end{array}$ |
| SC | y = -0.01x + 0.23 $R^2 = 1E-05 p > 0.05$ | $y = 3.43x - 0.38$ $R^2 = 0.75 \ p < 0.05$ |
| PC | $\begin{array}{l} y = -0.62x + 0.42 \\ R^2 = 0.014 \ p > 0.05 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{l} y = 2.85 x - 0.23 \\ R^2 = 0.89 \ p < 0.05 \end{array}$ |

Table 3-7 Relationships between mean daily Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) and mean daily TDR-measured θ (0–20 cm) (cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil) during the early and late growing seasons in 2017 and 2018 presented in Figure 3-9.

Table 3-8. Initial cross-over date (Julian Day) when growing season HDI in the shallow (0–20 cm) and deeper (20–60 cm) soil layer exceeds the transpiration Q_L (L m⁻² d⁻¹) time series

| | Initial cross-over | date (0–20 cm) | Initial cross-ov | Initial cross-over date (20–60 cm) | | |
|-----------|--------------------|----------------|------------------|------------------------------------|--|--|
| | 2017 | 2018 | 2017 | 2018 | | |
| reference | 203 | 210 | 209 | 211 | | |
| SC | 208 | 220 | 207 | 221 | | |
| PC | 202 | 211 | 208 | 219 | | |

| | HDI (0- | –20 cm) | HDI (20–60 cm) | | |
|-----------|---------|---------|----------------|------|--|
| | 2017 | 2018 | 2017 | 2018 | |
| reference | 18 | 54 | 38 | 64 | |
| SC | 33 | 68 | 31 | 67 | |
| PC | 15 | 57 | 52 | 80 | |

Table 3-9. Length of time (days) during the growing season when conditions were favorable for tree radial growth (HDI < HDI_{crit} 57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) in shallow (0–20 cm) and deeper (20–60 cm) soil layers in reference, SC, and PC stands during 2017 and 2018.

Table 3-10. Slope (m; kPa⁻¹) and normalized stomatal conductance intercept ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$; mm⁻¹ s mm s⁻¹) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) in 2018 presented in Figure 3-12.

| Soil θ percentile | reference | | PC | | SC | |
|----------------------|-----------|-----------|-------|-----------|-------|-----------|
| | slope | intercept | slope | intercept | slope | intercept |
| 75-100 | -0.003 | 1.79 | -0.35 | 1.81 | -0.18 | 1.44 |
| 50-75 | -0.112 | 1.49 | -0.29 | 1.45 | -0.22 | 1.29 |
| 25-50 | -0.074 | 0.59 | -0.08 | 0.59 | -0.22 | 0.91 |
| 0-25 | -0.013 | 0.13 | -0.01 | 0.14 | -0.03 | 0.36 |



Figure 3-1. Daily atmospheric moisture demand E_o (mm d⁻¹) during 2017 and 2018 in the reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands from May 19–August 29.



Figure 3-2. Total seasonal atmospheric moisture demand E_o (mm) during 2017 and 2018 in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands from May 19–August 29. Different letters, within each year, are indicative of significantly different E_o (p < 0.05).



Figure 3-3. Relationship between mean hourly transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) and mean hourly atmospheric moisture demand (E_0 ; mm h⁻¹) in the strip-shelterwood (SC), reference, and partial-cut (PC) stands. The time period spans from 7:00–14:00. i) early season 2017 (June 30–July 3), ii) late season 2017 (August 15–18), iii) early season 2018 (June 24–27), and iv) late season 2018 (August 15–18). Error bars indicate one standard error. Equations are summarized in Table 3-2.



Figure 3-4. Relationship between mean hourly transpiration per leaf area (Q_L ; L m⁻² h⁻¹) and mean hourly atmospheric moisture demand (E_o ; mm h⁻¹) in the strip-shelterwood (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S) stands. The time period spans from 7:00–14:00. i) early season 2017 (June 30–July 3), ii) late season 2017 (August 15–18), iii) early season 2018 (June 24–27), and iv) late season 2018 (August 15–18). Error bars indicate one standard error. Equations are summarized in Table 3-3.



Figure 3-5 Mean TDR-measured volumetric soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil) in shallow (0–20 cm) soil layers during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons (Julian Day 139–239; May 19–August 29) in reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands. Error bars represent one standard error.



Figure 3-6 Mean TDR-measured volumetric soil moisture (θ ; cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil) in shallow (0–20 cm) soil layers during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons (Julian Day 139–239; May 19–August 29) in strip-shelterwood (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S). Error bars represent one standard error.



Figure 3-7. Mean daily soil matric potential (Ψ ; kPa) during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons (Julian Day 139–239; May 19–August 29) in the reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partialcut (PC) stands. Error bars represent one standard error and are only represented for the reference stand for clarity.



Figure 3-8. Mean daily soil matric potential (Ψ ; kPa) during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons (Julian Day 139–239; May 19–August 29) in the strip-shelterwood (Strip mid, Strip N, and Strip S). Error bars represent one standard error and are only represented for the Strip mid stand for clarity.



Figure 3-9 relationship between mean daily transpiration (Q_L; L m⁻² d⁻¹) and mean TDRmeasured daily volumetric soil moisture (0–20 cm) (θ ; cm³ H₂O cm⁻³ soil) in reference, stripshelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC) stands. i) early season (June 10–July 15) 2017, ii) late season (July 16–August 29) 2017, iii) early season (May 19–July 15) 2018, and iv) late season (July 16–August 29) 2018. Error bars indicate one standard error. Linear regressions are summarized in Table 3-7.



Figure 3-10. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area Q_L (mL m⁻² d⁻¹) (hashed line) and hydrometeorologic dryness index (HDI) (mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) (solid line) for 0–20 cm soil layers during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons. The red line indicates HDI_{crit} (57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil).



Figure 3-11. Mean daily transpiration per leaf area Q_L (mL m⁻² d⁻¹) (hashed line) and hydrometeorologic dryness index (HDI) (mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil) (solid line) for 20–60 cm soil layers during the 2017 and 2018 growing seasons. The red line indicates HDI_{crit} (57.2 mb cm⁻³ H₂0 cm³ soil).



Figure 3-12. 2018 relationship between stomatal conductance normalized by its well-watered reference rate ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$; mm⁻¹ s mm s⁻¹) and compared to the vapour pressure deficit (D; kPa) for reference, strip-shelterwood (SC), and partial-cut (PC). Soil moisture (0–20 cm) was categorized across four levels of increasing θ (0–25, 25–50, 50–75, and 75–100 percentiles). Dark red (0–25) represents the driest percentile. Dark blue (75–100) represents the wettest percentile. Points represent average ($g_s g_{sref}^{-1}$) within the unique D and soil moisture bins. Lines are best fit of Equation 3-4 and are summarized in Table 3-10.

- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO, Rome
- Aussenac G (2000) Interactions between forest stands and microclimate: Ecophysiological aspects and consequences for silviculture. Annals of Forest Science 57:287-301. doi: 2000119
- Aussenac G, Granier A (1987) Effects of thinning on water stress and growth in Douglas-fir. Canadian Journal of Forestry Research 18:100-105
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ (2006) Differential transpiration by three boreal tree species in response to increased evaporative demand after variable retention harvesting. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138:104-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.015
- Brix H (1978) Effects of plant water stress on photosynthesis and survival of four conifers. Canadian Journal Forest Research 9:160-165
- Carter M, Gregorich E (2008) Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis (Second Edition). Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton
- Donner B, Running S (1986) Water Stress Response After Thinning Pinus contorta Stands in Montana. Forest Science 32:614-625
- Emelko MB, Stone M, Silins U, Allin D, Collins AL, Williams C, Martens A, Bladon K (2016) Sediment-phosphorus dynamics can shift aquatic ecology and cause downstream legacy effects after wildfire in large river systems. Global Change Biology 22:1168-1184
- Giambelluca TW, Nullet D (1992) Evaporation at high elevations in Hawaii. Journal of Hydrology 136:219-235. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(92)90012-K
- Granier A, Breda N (1996) Modelling canopy conductance and stand transpiration of an oak forest from sap flow. Annals of Forest Science 53:537-546
- Jarvis PG, Stewart JB (1979) Evaporation of water from plantation forest. In: Ford ED, Malcolm DC, Atterson J (eds) The Ecology of even-aged forest plantations, Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Cambridge, pp 327-349
- Kim J, Ferree GD (1981) Standardization in Causal Analysis. Sociological Methods & Research 10:187-210. doi: 10.1177/004912418101000203

Kozlowski TT (1968) Water deficits and plant growth. Academic Press, New York

- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A (2008) Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 255:2312-2323. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.12.047
- Lopushinsky W, Klock GO (1974) Transpiration of conifer seedlings in relations to soil water potential. Forest Science 20:181-186
- MacKay SL, Arain MA, Khomik M, Brodeur JJ, Schumacher J, Hartmann H, Peichl M (2012) The impact of induced drought on transpiration and growth in a temperate pine plantation forest. Hydrological Processes 26:1779-1791. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9315
- Marenholtz EH, Lieffers VJ, Silins U (2010) Evaporative demand across a range of microsites in partial-cut boreal forests. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 25:118-126. doi: 10.1080/02827581003730765
- Martin J, Looker N, Hoylman Z, Jencso K, Hu J (2017) Hydrometeorology organizes intraannual patterns of tree growth across time, space and species in a montane watershed. New Phytologist 215:1387-1398. doi: 10.1111/nph.14668
- Martínez-Vilalta J, Mangirón M, Ogaya R, Sauret M, Serrano L, Peñuelas J, Piñol J (2003) Sap flow of three co-occurring Mediterranean woody species under varying atmospheric and soil water conditions. Tree physiology 23:747-758. doi: 10.1093/treephys/23.11.747
- Monteith J (1965) Evaporation and Environment. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology 19:205-234
- Novick KA, Ficklin DL, Stoy PC, Williams CA, Bohrer G, Oishi A, Papuga SA, Blanken PD, Noormets A, Sulman BN, Scott RL, Wang L, Phillips RP (2016) The increasing importance of atmospheric demand for ecosystem water and carbon fluxes. Nature Climate Change 6:1023-1027. doi: 10.1038/nclimate3114
- Novick KA, Konings AG, Gentine P (2019) Beyond soil water potential: An expanded view on isohydricity including land–atmosphere interactions and phenology. Plant, Cell & Environment 42:1802-1815. doi: 10.1111/pce.13517
- Oren R, Sperry JS, Katul GG, Pataki DE, Ewers BE, Phillips N, Schäfer KVR (1999) Survey and synthesis of intra- and interspecific variation in stomatal sensitivity to vapour pressure deficit. Plant, Cell & Environment 22:1515-1526. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3040.1999.00513.x
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team (2018). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects models. R package version 3.1-137
- R Core Team (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical computing

- Reid DE, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2006) Sapwood hydraulic recovery following thinning in lodgepole pine. Annals of Forest Science 63:329-338
- Ruel J, Pin D, Cooper K (2001) Windthrow in riparian buffer strips: effect of wind exposure, thinning and strip width. Forest Ecology and Management 143:105-113. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00510-7
- Saxton KE, Rawls WJ (2006) Soil Water Characteristic Estimates by Texture and Organic Matter for Hydrologic Solutions. Soil Science Society of America Journal 70:1569-1578. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0117
- Silins U, Bladon KD, Kelly EN, Esch E, Spence JR, Stone M, Emelko MB, Boon S, Wagner MJ, Williams CS, Tichkowsky I (2014) Five-year legacy of wildfire and salvage logging impacts on nutrient runoff and aquatic plant, invertebrate, and fish productivity. Ecohydrology 7:1508-1523
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW (2007) The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 143:266-276. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.01.003
- Staebler G (1956) Evidence of shock following thinning of young Douglas Fir. Journal of Forestry 54:339
- Topp GC, Davis JL, Annan AP (1980) Electromagnetic determination of soil water content: Measurements in coaxial transmission lines. Water Resources Research 16:574-582. doi: 10.1029/WR016i003p00574
- Wullschleger SD, Hanson P (2006) Sensitivity of canopy transpiration to altered precipitation in an upland oak forest: evidence from a long-term field manipulation study. Global Change Biology 12:97-109. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01082.x

Chapter 4: Synthesis and forest management implications

The overall objectives of this research were to 1) explore the change in evaporative fluxes, specifically the transpiration response, of a mature lodgepole pine stand post-harvest after two alternative harvest strategies- partial-cut (PC) and strip-shelterwood (SC); 2) quantify the harvest-induced spatial patterns of above-ground (atmospheric moisture demand) and belowground (soil moisture) regulating these transpiration responses; and 3) interpret the interaction between the post-harvest transpiration as governed by above and below-ground controls to evaluate their relative influence on transpiration throughout the season.

The first data chapter of this study (Chapter 2) reported on diurnal and seasonal transpiration of lodgepole pine in the SC, PC, and reference stands over two growing seasons 2017–2018. The diurnal and seasonal transpiration in a mature, moderately dense lodgepole pine stand increased in both the distributed single tree PC and spatially discrete SC harvesting strategies compared to the reference stand. Plot scale transpiration rates (both hourly and daily) were greater on the edges of the retention strips (SC harvest), with the northern shaded side of the strip transpiring more than the southern side of the strip. This increase in transpiration was likely caused by a soil moisture legacy, increased sunlight exposure, and less competition for water, nutrients, and light (Williams et al. 1999; Vyse et al. 2006; Sparks et al. 2001). Patterns of seasonal transpiration showed increased transpiration in the PC stand during the early nonmoisture limiting season and in the SC stand during the late moisture limiting season compared to the reference stand. The reduction in transpiration rates in the PC stand was in contrast to what was previously documented for partial cutting, where transpiration rates from a partial-cut stand have been reported to have a sustained transpiration rate above the reference/un-cut stand through to the late, dry season (Lagergren et al. 2008). This study highlights that in drought years this may not be the case where stomatal closure may limit water use by the partial-cut stand. In contrast, results also show that during the drier, late growing season, trees in the SC stand may have been able to exploit the greater late season soil moisture produced by the delayed snowmelt from the SC harvest. The alternating strips caused a shading pattern on the north-facing slope delaying snowmelt which was critical for trees during the drier, late growing season in the adjacent strips.

Transpiration was within the range of magnitude reported in other partial-cutting studies from various densities, ages, and species (Bladon et al. 2006; Knight et al. 1981; Reid et al. 2006; Lagergren et al. 2008). However, this study was unique in showing increased water use by mature (> 50 years) stands after SC and PC harvest, which to my knowledge has not been previously studied. Stand age is likely an important factor in mature stands that would typically be harvested in contrast to younger stands that would be expected to have greater hydraulic conductance (lower hydraulic resistance (shorter stands)), and greater xylem permeability (Irvine et al. 2004; Delzon and Loustau 2005), thus greater ability to respond to harvest associated changes in microclimate and soil moisture availability. This in turn, is important in understanding how harvesting operations are likely to affect evaporative fluxes regulating the water balance and hydrologic responses of forested watersheds.

Plot scale transpiration was scaled up to sub-watershed scale to assess the likely effects of harvesting on watershed scale evaporative fluxes that would be expected to regulate post-harvest hydrologic impacts. The increased post-harvest transpiration in the SC and PC stands was estimated to largely, or entirely compensate for the direct reduction in total transpiration associated evaporative losses after forest harvesting. This is a novel finding because management strategies focus on limiting the total or percent harvest area in watersheds (e.g. equivalent clear-cut area [ECA] procedures) to minimize downstream hydrologic impacts (bank stability, water quality) (Winkler et al. 2017). In particular, because this research showed that transpiration of residual trees increased after harvesting, this research suggests that the area harvested may not serve as a good direct proxy for indicators of potential hydrologic change.

This has several important implications for both fundamental watershed hydrology and forest watershed management. Firstly, there is a long history of forest hydrologic research that has focused on exploring the variation in watershed scale effects of forest harvesting on streamflow response that have been observed across varied forest types and hydro-climatic regimes (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Stednick 1996). While these studies have focused on causal mechanisms explaining the high variation in relationships between water yield and area harvested across forest types and climatic regions, results of this study show that area harvested is not likely a good direct proxy indicator (independent variable) for these hydrologic effects. Similarly, this research also suggests management approaches to limit hydrologic impacts such as ECA, that assume these impacts are linearly proportional to harvested area, may overestimate

potential impacts on total watershed evaporative losses and hydrologic change. Increased transpiration by residual trees near the edges of harvested areas are likely to offset some of those projected effects. Thus, this potential compensatory effect should be incorporated into these procedures to better estimate the likely effects of forest management activities on hydrologic impacts in forested watersheds.

The second data chapter of this study (Chapter 3) reported on the spatial patterns of atmospheric moisture demand and soil moisture after two alternative harvest strategies- PC and SC. The atmospheric moisture demand was elevated (~ 10 %) in both harvested sites due to an increase in wind and radiation regimes. However this elevated atmospheric moisture demand in stands studied here, were not as elevated as previously reported after other partial-cutting studies (Bladon et al. 2006; Marenholtz et al. 2010), which may be partially explained by the difference in harvest intensity and the measurement height for wind speed. However, fewer studies have documented concurrent harvest effects on both microclimate and soil moisture that would collectively regulate potential transpiration responses of residual trees to different forest harvest strategies. The shallow soil moisture was observed to increase by 50 % for the SC stand and in the deeper soil layers by 42 % in the PC stand. Within the SC stand the northern shaded side had 18 % greater moisture than the southern side. These spatial patterns of moisture were a product of increased throughfall, reduced total transpiration losses and a delayed snowmelt due to shading of residual trees. The transpiration response within the harvested and reference stands mirrored the spatial pattern of soil moisture, where the PC stand had the greatest transpiration rate early season and the SC stand had the greatest transpiration during the late season.

Two indices (HDI and the relationship between stomatal conductance and vapour pressure deficit) were used to attempt to disentangle the combined effects of above-ground or below-ground controls to evaluate the primary drivers of transpiration and if this driver was meaningfully changed by the two harvesting strategies. This element of the research is also novel where previous studies have primarily used these indices to explore variation in physiological water use adaptation among species across different forest biomes (Novick et al. 2016). The weight of evidence approach using two independent indices strongly support the general conclusion that atmospheric drivers primarily governed transpiration but only during times of non-limiting soil moisture. Once the soil moisture became more limiting (~ mid–late July for southern Rockies) below-ground drivers played a pivotal role in the transpiration responses. This

89

highlights the potential importance of implementing forest harvest strategies that can exploit shading and reducing interception to provide more soil moisture throughout the season.

Both partial-cut (PC) and strip-shelterwood (PC) harvesting were implemented in a headwater catchment that has an important role of supplying water from the eastern slopes of the southern Rockies. The role of moisture was a key component in the transpiration response of the lodgepole pine stands. Situated on a north, north-east facing slope with harvest designs that have the potential to affect the radiation pattern (shading) was a key causal mechanism that modified the moisture regime of these stands during the drier, late growing season. The residual SC stand showed the least reduction in transpiration rates out of all stands which was almost entirely explained by harvest effects improving the soil moisture regime for tree growth. The SC harvest, if implemented on a north facing slope, is a suitable candidate for future operation designs as the wind distribution of the snow and the modified radiation through shading make for a suitable environment to grow and provide a delayed snowmelt subsequently supplying moisture thru to the late season.

4.1 Future Research

While this study addressed the short-term (two to three years) transpiration response of a mature, lodgepole stand after two alternative harvesting strategies, it remains unclear if these transpiration responses will continue to be sustained 10 or 20 years into the future. Previous studies on partial-cutting have highlighted the varying transpiration responses within 5 years after harvesting (Reid et al. 2006) and that was comprised of a younger stand which would not reflect stand ages that are more typical of most forest harvesting operations. Future research into assessing the long term (10 or 20 year) transpiration responses after the PC and SC harvest strategies would provide a broader perspective of the suitability of these alternative harvest strategies for consideration in future of forest harvesting designs.

This research also explored the effects of a strip-shelterwood cut that was approximately two tree lengths in harvested strip width. Future research exploring variable shapes of the harvest cuts to evaluate their effectiveness in snowpack capture and delay in melt rate would be an interesting addition. The transpiration response of the residual trees greatly mirrored the spatial distribution of soil moisture. Therefore a modified design with the strips being narrower (one to one and a half tree lengths) would promote more snowpack retention and subsequent effects on soil moisture regimes which may be potentially important in the future under warming climatic conditions. The alternative harvesting strategies evaluated in this study appear to promote additional soil moisture that may become increasingly important with warming air temperatures and increasing risk of drought.

References

- Bladon KD, Silins U, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ (2006) Differential transpiration by three boreal tree species in response to increased evaporative demand after variable retention harvesting. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138:104-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.015
- Bosch JM, Hewlett JD (1982). A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3-23. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(82)90117-2
- Delzon S, Loustau D (2005) Age-related decline in stand water use: sap flow and transpiration in a pine forest chronosequence. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 129:105-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2005.01.002
- Irvine J, Law BE, Kurpius MR, Anthoni PM, Moore D, Schwarz PA (2004) Age-related changes in ecosystem structure and function and effects on water and carbon exchange in ponderosa pine. Tree physiology 24:753-763. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.7.753
- Knight DH, Fahey TJ, Running SW, Harrison AT, Wallace LL (1981) Transpiration from 100yr-old lodgepole pine forests estimated with whole-tree potometers. Ecology 62:717-726
- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A (2008) Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 255:2312-2323. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.12.047
- Marenholtz EH, Lieffers VJ, Silins U (2010) Evaporative demand across a range of microsites in partial-cut boreal forests. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 25:118-126. doi: 10.1080/02827581003730765
- Novick KA, Ficklin DL, Stoy PC, Williams CA, Bohrer G, Oishi A, Papuga SA, Blanken PD, Noormets A, Sulman BN, Scott RL, Wang L, Phillips RP (2016) The increasing importance of atmospheric demand for ecosystem water and carbon fluxes. Nature Climate Change 6:1023-1027. doi: 10.1038/nclimate3114
- Reid DE, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2006) Sapwood hydraulic recovery following thinning in lodgepole pine. Annals of Forest Science 63:329-338
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black A (2001) Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of Pinus contorta: a TDR case study. Oecologia 127:468-475. doi: 10.1007/s004420000587
- Stednick JD (1996) Monitoring the effects of timber harvest on annual water yield. Journal of Hydrology 176:79-95. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(95)02780-7

- Vyse A, Ferguson C, Simard SW, Kano T, Puttonen P (2006) Growth of Douglas-fir, lodgepole pine, and ponderosa pine seedlings underplanted in a partially-cut, dry Douglas-fir stand in south-central British Columbia. The Forestry Chronicle 82:723-732. doi: 10.5558/tfc82723-5
- Williams H, Messier C, Kneeshaw D (1999) Effects of light availability and sapling size on the growth and crown morphology of understory Douglas-fir and lodgepole pine. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29:222-231. doi: 10.1139/x98-189
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S (2017) Streamflow response to clear-cut logging on British Columbia's Okanagan Plateau. Ecohydrology 10:1-15. doi: 10.1002/eco.1836

Alberta Government (2014). CTP C050118 Forest Harvest Plan: 1-37

- Alberta Government (2016). Alberta Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules Framework for Renewal: 1-89
- Alberta Government (2016). Spray Lake Sawmills Ltd. (1980) and FMU C05 Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules: 1-113
- Alexander RR, Edminster C (1981) Lodgepole Pine management in the Central Rocky Mountains. Journal of Forestry 78:196-201
- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO, Rome
- Andrews SF, Flanagan LB, Sharp EJ, Cai T (2012) Variation in water potential, hydraulic characteristics and water source use in montane Douglas-fir and lodgepole pine trees in southwestern Alberta and consequences for seasonal changes in photosynthetic capacity. Tree physiology 32:146-160. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpr136
- Aussenac G (2000) Interactions between forest stands and microclimate: Ecophysiological aspects and consequences for silviculture. Annals of Forest Science 57:287-301. doi: 2000119
- Aussenac G, Granier A (1987) Effects of thinning on water stress and growth in Douglas-fir. Canadian Journal of Forestry Research 18:100-105
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Landhäusser SM, Lieffers VJ (2006) Differential transpiration by three boreal tree species in response to increased evaporative demand after variable retention harvesting. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138:104-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.015
- Bladon KD, Silins U, Wagner MJ, Stone M, Emelko MB, Mendoza CA, Devito KJ, Boon S (2008) Wildfire impacts on nitrogen concentration and production from headwater streams in southern Alberta's Rocky Mountains. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 38:2359-2371
- Bosch JM, Hewlett JD (1982). A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3-23. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(82)90117-2
- Brix H (1978) Effects of plant water stress on photosynthesis and survival of four conifers. Canadian Journal Forest Research 9:160-165

- Carter M, Gregorich E (2008) Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis (Second Edition). Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton
- Dawson TE (1996) Determining water use by trees and forests from isotopic, energy balance and transpiration analyses: the roles of tree size and hydraulic lift. Tree physiology 16:263-272. doi: 10.1093/treephys/16.1-2.263
- Delzon S, Loustau D (2005) Age-related decline in stand water use: sap flow and transpiration in a pine forest chronosequence. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 129:105-119. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2005.01.002
- Do F, Rocheteau A (2002) Influence of natural temperature gradients on measurements of xylem sap flow with thermal dissipation probes. Advantages and calibration of a noncontinuous heating system. Tree Physiology 22:649-654
- Donner B, Running S (1986) Water Stress Response After Thinning Pinus contorta Stands in Montana. Forest Science 32:614-625
- Emelko MB, Stone M, Silins U, Allin D, Collins AL, Williams C, Martens A, Bladon K (2016) Sediment-phosphorus dynamics can shift aquatic ecology and cause downstream legacy effects after wildfire in large river systems. Global Change Biology 22:1168-1184
- Fahey T, Knight D (1986) Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems. BioScience 36:610-617. doi: 10.2307/1310196
- Gareth J, Tibshirani R, Hastie T, Witten D (2013) An introduction to statistical learning: with applications in R. Springer Science+Business Media, New York
- Giambelluca TW, Nullet D (1992) Evaporation at high elevations in Hawaii. Journal of Hydrology 136:219-235. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(92)90012-K
- Graham J, Running S (1984) Relative control of air temperature and water status on seasonal transpiration of Pinus contorta. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14:833-838
- Granier A (1987) Evaluation of transpiration in a Douglas-fir stand by means of sap flow measurements. Tree physiology 3:309-320. doi: 10.1093/treephys/3.4.309
- Granier A, Breda N (1996) Modelling canopy conductance and stand transpiration of an oak forest from sap flow. Annals of Forest Science 53:537-546
- Huang S, Monserud RA, Braun T, Lougheed H, Bakowsky O (2004) Comparing site productivity of mature fire-origin and post-harvest juvenile lodgepole pine stands in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:1181-1191. doi: 10.1139/x04-009

- Irvine J, Law BE, Kurpius MR, Anthoni PM, Moore D, Schwarz PA (2004) Age-related changes in ecosystem structure and function and effects on water and carbon exchange in ponderosa pine. Tree physiology 24:753-763. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.7.753
- Jarvis PG, Stewart JB (1979) Evaporation of water from plantation forest. In: Ford ED, Malcolm DC, Atterson J (eds) The Ecology of even-aged forest plantations, Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Cambridge, pp 327-349
- Keyes CR, Perry TE, Sutherland EK, Wright DK, Egan JM (2014) Variable-Retention Harvesting as a Silvicultural Option for Lodgepole Pine. Journal of Forestry 112:440-445. doi: 10.5849/jof.13-100
- Kim J, Ferree GD (1981) Standardization in Causal Analysis. Sociological Methods & Research 10:187-210. doi: 10.1177/004912418101000203
- Knight DH, Fahey TJ, Running SW, Harrison AT, Wallace LL (1981) Transpiration from 100yr-old lodgepole pine forests estimated with whole-tree potometers. Ecology 62:717-726
- Kozlowski TT (1968) Water deficits and plant growth. Academic Press, New York
- Kranabetter JM, Coates KD (2004) Ten-year postharvest effects of silviculture systems on soilresource availability and conifer nutrition in a northern temperate forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:800-809. doi: 10.1139/x03-244
- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A (2008) Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 255:2312-2323. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.12.047
- Lopushinsky W, Klock GO (1974) Transpiration of conifer seedlings in relations to soil water potential. Forest Science 20:181-186
- MacKay SL, Arain MA, Khomik M, Brodeur JJ, Schumacher J, Hartmann H, Peichl M (2012) The impact of induced drought on transpiration and growth in a temperate pine plantation forest. Hydrological Processes 26:1779-1791. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9315
- Maherali H, Pockman WT, Jackson R (2004) Adaptive Variation in the Vulnerability of Woody Plants to Xylem Cavitation. Ecology 85:2184-2199. doi: 10.1890/02-0538
- Marenholtz EH, Lieffers VJ, Silins U (2010) Evaporative demand across a range of microsites in partial-cut boreal forests. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 25:118-126. doi: 10.1080/02827581003730765
- Martin J, Looker N, Hoylman Z, Jencso K, Hu J (2017) Hydrometeorology organizes intraannual patterns of tree growth across time, space and species in a montane watershed. New Phytologist 215:1387-1398. doi: 10.1111/nph.14668

- Martínez-Vilalta J, Mangirón M, Ogaya R, Sauret M, Serrano L, Peñuelas J, Piñol J (2003) Sap flow of three co-occurring Mediterranean woody species under varying atmospheric and soil water conditions. Tree physiology 23:747-758. doi: 10.1093/treephys/23.11.747
- McLaren J, Arain M, Khomik M, Peichl M, Brodeur J (2008) Water flux components and soil water-atmospheric controls in a temperate pine forest growing in a well-drained sandy soil. Journal of Geophysical Research 113:1-16. doi: 10.1029/2007JG000653
- Monteith J (1965) Evaporation and Environment. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology 19:205-234
- Novick KA, Ficklin DL, Stoy PC, Williams CA, Bohrer G, Oishi A, Papuga SA, Blanken PD, Noormets A, Sulman BN, Scott RL, Wang L, Phillips RP (2016) The increasing importance of atmospheric demand for ecosystem water and carbon fluxes. Nature Climate Change 6:1023-1027. doi: 10.1038/nclimate3114
- Novick KA, Konings AG, Gentine P (2019) Beyond soil water potential: An expanded view on isohydricity including land–atmosphere interactions and phenology. Plant, Cell & Environment 42:1802-1815. doi: 10.1111/pce.13517
- Oren R, Sperry JS, Katul GG, Pataki DE, Ewers BE, Phillips N, Schäfer KVR (1999) Survey and synthesis of intra- and interspecific variation in stomatal sensitivity to vapour pressure deficit. Plant, Cell & Environment 22:1515-1526. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3040.1999.00513.x
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team (2018). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects models. R package version 3.1-137
- Pomeroy J, Fang X, Ellis C (2012) Sensitivity of snowmelt hydrology in Marmot Creek, Alberta, to forest cover disturbance. Hydrological Processes 26:1891-1904. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9248
- R Core Team (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical computing
- Reid DE, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2006) Sapwood hydraulic recovery following thinning in lodgepole pine. Annals of Forest Science 63:329-338
- Rudnicki M, Silins U, Lieffers VJ (2004) Crown Cover Is Correlated with Relative Density, Tree Slenderness, and Tree Height in Lodgepole Pine. Forest Science 50:356-363
- Ruel J, Pin D, Cooper K (2001) Windthrow in riparian buffer strips: effect of wind exposure, thinning and strip width. Forest Ecology and Management 143:105-113. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00510-7
- Saxton KE, Rawls WJ (2006) Soil Water Characteristic Estimates by Texture and Organic Matter for Hydrologic Solutions. Soil Science Society of America Journal 70:1569-1578. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0117
- Silins U, Anderson A, Bladon KD, Emelko MB, Stone M, Spencer SA, Williams CS, Wagner MJ, Martens AM, Hawthorn K (2016) Southern Rockies Watershed Project. The Forestry Chronicle 92:39-42
- Silins U, Bladon KD, Kelly EN, Esch E, Spence JR, Stone M, Emelko MB, Boon S, Wagner MJ, Williams CS, Tichkowsky I (2014) Five-year legacy of wildfire and salvage logging impacts on nutrient runoff and aquatic plant, invertebrate, and fish productivity. Ecohydrology 7:1508-1523
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW (2007) The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 143:266-276. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.01.003
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black A (2001) Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of Pinus contorta: a TDR case study. Oecologia 127:468-475. doi: 10.1007/s004420000587
- Staebler G (1956) Evidence of shock following thinning of young Douglas Fir. Journal of Forestry 54:339
- Stednick JD (1996) Monitoring the effects of timber harvest on annual water yield. Journal of Hydrology 176:79-95. doi: 10.1016/0022-1694(95)02780-7
- Strong WL, Leggat KR (1992) Ecoregions of Alberta. Alberta Energy and Natural Resources, Resource Evaluation and Planning division, Edmonton
- Swanson RH (1985). Managing lodgepole pine ecosystems as watersheds. In: Baumgartner, D., Krebill, R., Arnott, J., Weetman, G. (eds) Lodgepole Pine The Species and Its Management Symposium Proceedings, Spokane, Washington and Vancouver, BC, May 8-16, 1985, Pullman, Washington:305-313
- Thorpe HC, Thomas SC (2007) Partial harvesting in the Canadian boreal: Success will depend on stand dynamic responses. The Forestry Chronicle 83:319-325. doi: 10.5558/tfc83319-3
- Topp GC, Davis JL, Annan AP (1980) Electromagnetic determination of soil water content: Measurements in coaxial transmission lines. Water Resources Research 16:574-582. doi: 10.1029/WR016i003p00574

- Vyse A, Ferguson C, Simard SW, Kano T, Puttonen P (2006) Growth of Douglas-fir, lodgepole pine, and ponderosa pine seedlings underplanted in a partially-cut, dry Douglas-fir stand in south-central British Columbia. The Forestry Chronicle 82:723-732. doi: 10.5558/tfc82723-5
- Wengert E (1976) A quick method to distinguish aspen heartwood and sapwood. Wood and Fiber Science 8:114-115
- Williams H, Messier C, Kneeshaw D (1999) Effects of light availability and sapling size on the growth and crown morphology of understory Douglas-fir and lodgepole pine. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29:222-231. doi: 10.1139/x98-189
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S (2017) Streamflow response to clear-cut logging on British Columbia's Okanagan Plateau. Ecohydrology 10:1-15. doi: 10.1002/eco.1836
- Wullschleger SD, Hanson P (2006) Sensitivity of canopy transpiration to altered precipitation in an upland oak forest: evidence from a long-term field manipulation study. Global Change Biology 12:97-109. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01082.x
- Wullschleger SD, Wilson KB, Hanson PJ (2000) Environmental control of whole-plant transpiration, canopy conductance and estimates of the decoupling coefficient for large red maple trees. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 104:157-168. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00152-0
- Yang K (1987) Growth ring contrast enhancement and the differentiation of sapwood and heartwood zones. Wood and Fiber Science 19:339-342
- Yoder B, Ryan M, Waring R, Schoettle A, Kaufmann M (1994) Evidence of Reduced Photosynthetic Rates in Old Trees. Forest Science 40:513-527
- Zeger S, Liang K, Albert P (1988) Models for Longitudinal Data: A Generalized Estimating Equation Approach. Biometrics 44:1049-1060. doi: 10.2307/2531734
- Zhang M, Wei X (2014) Contrasted hydrological responses to forest harvesting in two large neighbouring watersheds in snow hydrology dominant environment: implications for forest management and future forest hydrology studies. Hydrological Processes 28:6183-6195. doi: 10.1002/hyp.10107

Appendix A – Calibration of and quality control of TDP sap flow sensors

Four separate quality control tests were performed prior to sap flow measurement to ensure all TDP-30 sensors were properly functioning and producing similar measurement readings. The first test was to determine the proper resistance was being measured by each TDP-30 instrument. Second test was to determine the coherence in temperature difference (Δ T) among sensors when connected to power before and after installation. The third was to quantify the natural thermal gradient. The fourth test were to determine whether natural temperature gradients were having an effect on the maximum temperature difference (Δ T_m) within tree boles.

The first test was conducted in the lab prior to installation in the field. A multi-meter was used to confirm the factory stated ohm (Ω) provided by the manufacturer (Dynamax, Houston, TX, USA). All sensors were within 0.1 Ω of factory calibration.

The second test was implemented (May 12, 2018) during the early morning hours to determine consistency of measured temperature differences among TDP-30 prior to installation. Sensors were positioned on the north side of each tree bole to minimize direct solar heating so that the ΔT would reflect only variation in temperature under consistent environmental conditions. 10 min mean ΔT was recorded for all trees for one hour which resulted in a mean ΔT of 15.9 ± 0.4 ° C (mean \pm standard error) across all instrumented trees.

The third test was implemented to quantify natural thermal gradients within the tree. Several thermal measuring devices like the TDP assumes natural thermal gradients are negligible in the sapwood area (Do and Rocheteau 2002). If not quantified, these thermal gradients can fluctuate the ΔT_m and subsequently the perceived sap flow velocity v_s (Do and Rocheteau 2002). One solution proposed by (Do and Rocheteau 2002) was to record ΔT continuously with a nonheating system. July 6-8, 2018 the heater voltages were turned off and the temperature difference recorded 10 min timestamps for 24 hours each day. The ΔT among the sensors recorded an amplitude ranging from -0.4 to 0.4 ° C.

The fourth test was continuous heat applied to all sensors installed in the trees. This test was implemented to determine the effect of natural temperature gradients on ΔT . During the day, the influence of natural gradients can be hard to detect due the dynamics of solar radiation and sap flow rate itself (Do and Rocheteau 2002). During the nighttime, the effect of natural gradients is easier to detect with high fluctuations in ΔT_m . Progressive changes in ΔT_m is an

indication of changes in heat dissipation mechanisms due to shrinkage of wood after needle insertion or seasonal wood water content. From June 11- 18, 2018 the sensors measured and recorded 10 min averages of ΔT 24 hours each day. This record gave insight to each sensor's range of ΔT_m from night to night. Over the course of eight days ΔT_m changed 0.05 ° C within one sensor's time series.

The third and fourth test confirmed that natural temperature gradients are no more than 6 % of ΔT at any given time therefore the influence of natural thermal gradients was considered negligible. Furthermore placing the TDP sensor on the north azimuth mitigated large fluctuations of temperature gradients as (Do and Rocheteau 2002) study had concluded.